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Board of Director’s 
report
GENERAL INFORMATION 

During the latter part of 2018, growth in Europe 

slowed down. In several sectors, such as the 

construction sector, activities generally de-

creased during the second half of the year.

This development in Europe was also reflect-

ed in the company's operations during the year. 

On the industrial side in particular, growth was 

characterized by the slowdown in the construc-

tion sector. Investment operations, on the other 

hand, were partly affected by global political 

instability. 

GROUP STRUCTURE

Rettig Group Ltd, headquartered in Helsinki, 

Finland, is the parent company of the Rettig 

Group (the "Group") and is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Rettig Capital Ltd. Rettig Group 

Ltd is a Finnish family-held investment company 

that creates value for generations through active 

and responsible ownership. The investments 

include Rettig ICC (indoor climate comfort), 

Nordkalk (limestone), Alandia (insurance), eQ 

(asset management and corporate finance), 

Terveystalo (healthcare services) and Anchor 

(financial investments). For a full list of subsid-

iaries see Note 28. Through these businesses, 

Rettig Group is active in 28 countries globally 

and employs over 4,000 people.

Rettig ICC manufactures and markets 

heating solutions and systems for indoor climate 

comfort. The products are manufactured for 

homes and commercial buildings and are mainly 

sold via sanitary and heating wholesalers. The 

parent company, Rettig ICC Ltd, is a wholly- 

owned subsidiary of Rettig Group Ltd and is 

headquartered in Helsinki, Finland.

Nordkalk is Northern Europe’s leading manu-

facturer of limestone-based products for in-

dustry, agriculture and environmental protec-

tion. It operates in a number of countries, 

including Finland, Sweden, Poland, Estonia, 

Norway and Turkey. Its parent company, Nord-

kalk Corporation, is a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of the parent company Rettig Group Ltd. The 

company has its headquarters in Pargas, 

Finland.

Anchor Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

Rettig Group Ltd. The company conducts finan-

cial investment activities and is headquartered 

in Helsinki, Finland.

The insurance company Alandia is an asso-

ciated company within the Rettig Group. The 

ownership interest was 25 per cent at year- 

end and the company is headquartered in 

Mariehamn, Åland.

The ownership interest in eQ Plc was 15.39 

per cent at the end of the year. The shares of 

eQ Plc are publicly traded on Nasdaq Helsinki.

The ownership interest in Terveystalo Plc, 

which is also a listed company on Nasdaq  

Helsinki, amounted to 16.52 per cent at the end 

of the year. Terveystalo is the largest health 

service company in Finland.

SALES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group's turnover for the year 2018 amount-

ed to EUR 983 million (2017: 988), which was a 

decrease of EUR 5 million compared with the 

previous year. The Group's EBITDA was EUR 

103 million (111), the operating profit before 

interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to EUR 49 

million (53) and net profit to EUR 31 million (37). 

Rettig ICC, Nordkalk and Alandia contribu ted 

to the deterioration in earnings.
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RETTIG ICC

Rettig ICC's turnover amounted to EUR 682 

million (684). The operating contribution 

(EBITDA) amounted to EUR 57 million (63). 

Increased competition in central markets and 

higher costs contributed to the reduction in 

operating contribution.

NORDKALK

Nordkalk's turnover for 2018 amounted to EUR 

300 million (304). The decrease in turnover 

contributed to the lower operating contribution 

(EBITDA) for 2018, which amounted to EUR 

53 million (54).

OTHER BUSINESS 

Alandia's result for 2018 was worse than in 

2017, mostly as a result of higher claims ratios 

for ship refunds and a lower return on the in-

vestment portfolio. Rettig Group's share of 

Alandia's net result of EUR -0.5 million (3) is 

included in the Group's EBIT.

Terveystalo and eQ are included as long-

term financial investments in the Group's 

balance sheet and the change in fair value is 

recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Dividend from eQ of approximately EUR 1.7 

million is included in the Group’s financial 

items; additionally the Group received an 

equity repayment of EUR 0.3 million from eQ. 

Terveystalo did not pay dividend in 2018 but 

made an equity repayment amounting to EUR 

0.8 million.

Anchor's net result for 2018 amounted to 

EUR 4 million (4).

PAYROLL AND REMUNERATION

The Group's salaries and remuneration during 

the financial year amounted to EUR 160 million 

(162).

PERSONNEL

In 2018, the Group had on average 4,207 em-

ployees (4,179), of whom 88 per cent (88) 

worked outside Finland. 

FINANCING AND  
FINANCIAL POSITION 

At the end of 2018, the Group's long-term lia-

bilities amounted to EUR 433 million (356) and 

current liabilities to EUR 337 million (320). The 

Group's interest-bearing net debt as defined in 

the loan terms and conditions amounted to EUR 

245 million (249). Cash assets amounted to EUR 

56 million (39). The Group's equity ratio was 36 

per cent (41) and net gearing 91 per cent (64) 

at year-end.

RISK FACTORS

The largest strategic and operational risks for 

Rettig ICC's operations are the fluctuating raw 

material prices, significant changes in the macro 

economy, changes in the customer structure and 

the product offering and the availability of raw 

materials.

Strategic and operational risks that can affect 

Nordkalk's operations are largely associated with 

the development of demand in the markets, in-

creased competition, access to raw materials, 

energy prices and environmental requirements.

Risk factors for other operations are mainly 

related to the financial and capital markets, where 

developments have an impact on the value of the 

Group's assets.

SHARES

The company’s share capital is divided into two 

categories: ordinary shares and A shares. A total 

of 18,104,862 shares are in circulation of which 

25,862 are A shares. One ordinary share carries 

20 votes; an A share carries 1 vote.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
AND INVESTMENTS

Capital expenditure in operations amounted to EUR 

56 million (48). Long-term financial investments 

made in 2018 amounted to EUR 94 million (129).

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

Research & development costs were EUR 7 

million (7); these costs consisted mostly of 

product development costs.

MANAGEMENT AND AUDITORS 

At the Annual General Meeting of Rettig Group 

Ltd, held on 26 February 2018, Cyril von Rettig 

(Chairman), Tom von Rettig, Tomas von Rettig, 

Maria Savola, Bjarne Mitts, Matti Kuivalainen 

and Timo Vättö were elected as members of 

the Board of Directors.

Tomas von Rettig has been the company's 

President and CEO since 1 January 2016.

Kim Järvi, Authorised Public Accountant, 

and KPMG Oy Ab, Authorised Public Account-

ants, were elected as auditors.

OUTLOOK FOR 2019

Global economic uncertainty has increased 

and economic growth in Europe and Asia is 

expected to slow down in 2019. As a result, 

we do not expect economic conditions to 

materially help drive profitability in our 

private core investments. In 2019, we will 

focus on improving the cost competitiveness 

and growth prospects of these companies 

in order to support profitability and cash flow 

generation.
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DIVIDENDS

The distributable funds of Rettig Group Ltd were as follows: 

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 19 December 2018 resolved that a dividend of EUR 19,500,000.00 shall be 

paid and the remaining distributable funds as of 31 December 2018 be carried forward.

HELSINKI, 12 FEBRUARY 2019

Cyril von Rettig, Chairman

Tomas von Rettig, President and CEO

Tom von Rettig

Maria Savola

Bjarne Mitts

Matti Kuivalainen

Timo Vättö

Retained earnings 31 December 2017 EUR 396,394,145

Resolved dividend 2018 EUR -19,500,000

Fund of invested unrestricted equity EUR 6,589,845

Retained earnings from the current accounting year EUR 381,428,505

Total distributable reserves 31 December 2018 EUR 764,912,495
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Consolidated income statement
NOTES 2018 2017

EUR thousand

Turnover 7 982,898 988,218

Cost of sales 8 -788,428 -806,779

GROSS PROFIT 194,470 181,439

Sales and marketing expenses 8 -69,971 -71,481

Administrative & ICT expenses 8 -63,956 -59,128

Research and development expenses 8 -8,138 -8,078

Impairment loss on trade receivables and contract 
assets

26 -510 -1,196

Other income 8 16,753 31,489

Other expenses 8 -19,993 -22,152

-145,816 -130,546

Share of profit (-loss) of equity-accounted investees, 
net of tax

19 74 1,781

EBIT 48,728 52,674

Finance income 9 26,407 23,699

Finance expenses 9 -33,399 -29,551

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS 9 -6,992 -5,852

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 41,736 46,822

Income tax expense 12 -10,918 -10,020

PROFIT 30,818 36,802

NOTES 2018 2017

EUR thousand

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO:  

Owners of the company 27,796 33,859

Non-controlling interests 3,023 2,942
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
NOTES 2018 2017

EUR thousand

Profit 30,818 36,802

Other comprehensive income

ITEMS THAT WILL NEVER BE RECLASSIFIED  
TO PROFIT OR LOSS

Re-measurement of defined benefit liability (asset) 10 1,600 4,912

Equity investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value 19 -29,873 0

Related tax 12 -164 -288

ITEMS THAT ARE OR MAY BE RECLASSIFIED  
TO PROFIT OR LOSS

Foreign operations –  
foreign currency translation differences

-5,958 878

Equity accounted investees –  
share of other comprehensive income

19 469 -995

Cash flow hedges –  
effective portion of changes in fair value

4,894 1,497

Cash flow hedges – reclassified to profit or loss -497 15

Available-for-sale financial assets –  
net change in fair value

0 -10,369

Related tax 12 -895 1,445

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX -30,424 -2,905

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 394 33,897

NOTES 2018 2017

EUR thousand

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO:  

Owners of the company -2,629 30,954

Non-controlling interests 3,023 2,942
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Consolidated balance sheet
NOTES 31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Assets

Consolidated goodwill 17, 18 159,237 156,084

Other intangible assets 17 18,386 18,976

Property, plant and equipment 16 309,490 309,634

Equity-accounted investees 19 36,709 39,327

Other investments 20, 27 215,540 162,066

Trade and other receivables, including 
derivatives

14 14,455 16,653

Deferred tax assets 12 23,826 25,450

Employee benefits 10 523 656

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 778,166 728,847

Inventories 13 154,371 150,949

Trade and other receivables, including 
derivatives

14 165,582 160,609

Other investments 20, 27 51,212 54,339

Current tax asset 12 2,749 2,039

Cash and cash equivalents 15 56,082 39,468

CURRENT ASSETS 429,995 407,405

TOTAL ASSETS 1,208,162 1,136,251

NOTES 31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Equity

Share capital 21 3,011 3,011

Fund of invested unrestricted equity 21 8,921 5,500

Reserves 21 -38,790 -10,107

Retained earnings 21 454,202 451,398

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO  
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

427,344 449,802

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 29 12,625 10,882

TOTAL EQUITY 439,969 460,684

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 23 368,263 287,146

Employee benefits 10 29,236 31,308

Trade and other payables, including 
derivatives

24 1,516 1,717

Provisions 25 13,562 14,441

Deferred tax liabilities 12 20,841 21,211

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 433,417 355,822

Loans and borrowings 23 103,021 88,695

Trade and other payables, including 
derivatives

24 229,780 229,206

Current tax liabilities 12 1,975 1,844

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 334,775 319,745

TOTAL LIABILITIES 768,193 675,567

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,208,162 1,136,251
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
SHARE 

CAPITAL

INVESTED 
UNRESTRICTED 

EQUITY FUND

TRANSLATION 
RESERVE

FAIR VALUE 
RESERVE

HEDGING 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL
NON-

CONTROLLING 
INTEREST

TOTAL

EUR thousand

BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY 2017 3,011 5,500 -3,880 4,765 -3,459 438,611 444,548 7,311 451,859

Profit 0 0 0 0 0 33,859 33,859 2,942 36,802

Other comprehensive income 0 0 878 -9,617 1,210 4,624 -2,905 0 -2,905

Total comprehensive income 0 0 878 -9,617 1,210 38,483 30,954 2,942 33,897

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 -20,500 -20,500 -3,244 -23,744

Group contribution, net of tax 0 0 0 0 0 -1,000 -1,000 0 -1,000

Exchange rates and others 0 0 0 0 0 -4,200 -4,200 3,873 -328

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 3,011 5,500 -3,002 -4,852 -2,249 451,394 449,802 10,882 460,684
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SHARE 
CAPITAL

INVESTED 
UNRESTRICTED 

EQUITY FUND

TRANSLATION 
RESERVE

FAIR VALUE 
RESERVE

HEDGING 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL
NON-

CONTROLLING 
INTEREST

TOTAL

EUR thousand

BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY 2018 3,011 5,500 -3,002 -4,852 -2,249 451,394 449,802 10,882 460,684

Profit 0 0 0 0 0 27,796 27,796 3,023 30,818

Other comprehensive income 0 0 -5,958 -29,404 3,502 1,435 -30,424 0 -30,424

Total comprehensive income 0 0 -5,958 -29,404 3,502 29,231 -2,629 3,023 394

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 -19,500 -19,500 -2,940 -22,440

Group contribution, net of tax 0 0 0 0 0 -1,600 -1,600 0 -1,600

Long term incentive plans 0 3,421 0 0 0 -294 3,127 1,804 4,931

Exchange rates and others 0 0 0 3,211 -39 -5,028 -1,856 -143 -1,999

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 3,011 8,921 -8,960 -31,044 1,214 454,203 427,344 12,626 439,970
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
NOTES 2018 2017

EUR thousand

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

EBIT 48,728 52,674

ADJUSTMENTS:

Depreciation 44,358 64,640

Share of profit of equity accounted investees, net of tax 74 -1,781

Gain on sale of property plant and equipment -632 -298

Other expenses 1,322 -16,471

45,122 46,090

CHANGES IN:

Inventories -4,351 -11,948

Trade and other receivables 2,218 -4,208

Trade and other payables 295 20,960

Provision and employee benefits -3,100 -3,286

-4,939 1,518

Dividend income, equity accounted investees 2,975 2,560

Net finance costs -7,534 -5,400

Tax expenses -10,900 -14,258

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 73,452 83,184

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment 3,176 17,842

Acquisition of property plant and equipment -36,810 -48,437

Acquisition of Group companies, net of cash -5,993 0

Financial investments -86,867 -129,016

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES -126,493 -159,611

NOTES 2018 2017

EUR thousand

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from new borrowings 23 120,169 225,416

Repayment of borrowings 23 -20,775 -103,636

Payment of lease liability 23 -4,760 -2,676

Increase in equity 3,421 0

Dividends paid -23,440 -22,685

Change in other loans and receivables -3,670 -11,836

Group contribution -1,000 0

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 69,946 84,583

NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN  
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

16,905 8,156

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 39,468 32,078

Cash movement 16,905 8,156

Currency rate impact -291 -766

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 56,082 39,468
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Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

1. Reporting entity

Rettig Group Ltd (the “Rettig Group” or the “Group”) is a limited liability company domiciled in 

Helsinki. The registered address of Rettig Group Ltd is Bulevardi 46, 00120 Helsinki, Finland. Rettig 

Capital Ltd is the ultimate parent company of the Rettig Group. These consolidated financial 

statements comprise the parent company Rettig Group Ltd (“the Parent”) and its subsidiaries 

(collectively the “Group” and individually “Group companies”). The consolidated financial state-

ments are available at www.rettig.fi.

Rettig Group is a Finnish family-held investment company that creates value for generations 

through active and responsible ownership. Our investments include Rettig ICC (indoor climate 

comfort), Nordkalk (limestone), Alandia (insurance), eQ (asset management and corporate finance), 

Terveystalo (healthcare services) and Anchor (financial investments). For a full list of sharehold-

ings see Note 28. Through these businesses Rettig Group is active in 28 countries globally and 

employs over 4,000 people.

2.  Basis of preparation
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), using the IAS and IFRS standards and SIC and IFRIC in-

terpretations, as applicable at 31 December 2018 and adopted by the European Union. The Inter-

national Financial Reporting Standards refer to the standards implemented in the EU by Regulation 

(EC) 1606/2002, and the related interpretations. The notes to the consolidated financial statements 

also comply with the Finnish accounting and corporate legislation that supplements the IFRSs.

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis unless 

otherwise specified in the accounting policies section below.

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

These consolidated financial statements are presented in EUR, which is the company’s function-

al currency. The consolidated financial statements are presented in EUR thousands. As result of 

rounding differences, the figures presented in the tables may not add up to the total. 

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements under IFRSs requires the use of judgements, 

estimates and assumptions affecting the application of accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Although these estimates are based on 

management’s best view of current events and actions, the actual results may ultimately differ 

from these estimates. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Information about judgements, assumptions and estimates that have a significant risk of re-

sulting in a material change to reported results are described below.

Judgements

Classification of joint arrangements
IFRSs require joint arrangements to be classified as joint operations or joint ventures. The classi-

fication depends upon the rights and obligations of the parties and the accounting policies vary 
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between categories. Further information on joint arrangements and classification is included in 

Note 19.

Lease classification
In accordance with IFRSs entities are required to classify lease arrangements as finance leases 

or operating leases. IFRIC 4 includes guidance on whether an arrangement contains a lease. 

Further information on lease arrangements is included in Note 16. Payment plans concerning 

leases are included in Note 14 and Note 23.

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Recognition of deferred tax assets
Uncertainty exists related to the availability of future taxable profit against which tax losses carried 

forward can be used. Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that 

it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Signif-

icant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 

can be recognised, based on the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with 

future tax planning strategies. Further information on income taxes is disclosed in Note 12.

Defined benefit obligations – actuarial assumptions
The present value of pension obligations is subject to the actuarial assumptions used by actuaries 

to calculate these obligations. Actuarial assumptions include the discount rate, the annual rate of 

increase in future compensation levels and inflation rate. Further details on assumptions used are 

disclosed in Note 10.

Recognition and measurement of provisions
The most significant provisions in the statement of financial position relate to recultivation and 

restructuring programmes. The judgement applied mainly relates to the estimated amounts of 

costs. The precise amount and timing of these costs could differ significantly from estimates. 

Further information on provisions is included in Note 25.

Fair values of financial instruments
The fair values of financial instruments that cannot be determined based on quoted market prices 

and rates are established using different valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to 

select methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at 

the end of reporting period. Factors regarding valuation techniques and their assumptions could 

affect the reported fair values.

Impairment testing
Goodwill and other intangible assets not yet available for use are tested annually for impairment. 

In addition the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indications exist, then 

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. These calculations require the use of judgement. 

For further information on impairment testing of goodwill, see Note 18.

3. Significant accounting policies
The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in 

these consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is 

transferred to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is measured at fair value, 

as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. 

Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are 

expensed as incurred. The consideration transferred does not include amounts relating to the 

settlement of pre-existing relationships. Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value 

at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition 

of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is ac-

counted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent 

consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed 

to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 

those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are in-

cluded in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until 

the date on which control ceases.
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Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets at the acquisition date.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are recog-

nised as equity transactions.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it de-recognises the assets and liabilities of the 

subsidiary, and any non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain 

or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured 

at fair value when control is lost. 

Interests in equity-accounted investees

The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and a joint 

venture.

Associates are those entities over which the Group has significant influence, but has not control 

nor joint control over the entities’ financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement 

in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrange-

ment, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in associates and the joint venture are recognised using the equity method. These 

are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Accounting policies applied by 

associates and joint ventures are, in all material respects, adjusted to the Group’s accounting 

policies. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the 

Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees 

up until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from 

intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equi-

ty-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest 

in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to 

the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities are classified as held for 

sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through 

continuing use. These assets or disposal groups are generally measured at the lower of their 

carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A discontinued operation is a part of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of 

which can be distinguished from the rest of the Group. Discontinued operation represents a 

separate major line of business, is part of a coordinated plan to dispose of a separate line of 

business or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification as a discon-

tinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be 

classified as held for sale. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the com-

parative income statement and other comprehensive income (OCI) is represented as if the oper-

ation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year. 

TURNOVER

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 

to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible 

return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with 

the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Income from services is recognised 

as profit or loss when the service has been performed. Revenue is measured net of returns, trade 

discounts and volume rebates. 

Segment information
The Group does not present segment information or apply IFRS 8 Operating Segments, since its 

equity or debt instruments are not traded in a public market.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets 

are recognised as deferred income. This deferred income is recognised as profit or loss on a 

systematic basis over the useful life of the asset. Other government grants are recognised as profit 

or loss on a systematic basis over the period in which the entity recognises the related costs that 

the grants are compensating.

RETTIG GROUP    14    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018



EMISSION RIGHTS

Emission rights granted to the company in “cap and trade” schemes are recognised as an intan-

gible asset and measured at the nominal amount using the net value method. 

Emission rights acquired to cover shortfalls, and shortfalls not covered by acquisition or grants, 

are reported as a cost provision according to their value at the reporting date. Gains on the sale 

of the surplus emission rights are recognised under other income.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group 

entities at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the 

functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated into the func-

tional currency at the exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign 

currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are 

measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are not translated.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 

on acquisition, are translated into EUR at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income 

and expenses of foreign operations are translated into EUR at the exchange rates at the dates of 

the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 

in the translation reserve, except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to a 

non-controlling interest.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant 

influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve relating to that 

foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group 

disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of 

the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of 

only part of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant influence or joint control, the 

relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recog-

nised for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 

to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 

estimated reliably.

Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is 

provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 

reduction in future payments is available. 

Defined benefit plans

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each 

plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and 

prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

Defined benefit obligations are calculated annually by a qualified actuary using the projected 

unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Group, the recognised 

asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds 

from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of 

economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, 

the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding 

interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the 

net interest expense (income) for the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying 

the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period 

to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined 

benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net in-

terest expense relating to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss in net financial items.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in 

benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in 

profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan 

when the settlement occurs.
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Other long-term employee benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 

benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. 

That benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in 

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the 

offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are 

not expected to be settled within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are 

discounted.

Share-based payments

The Group has share-based incentive programs that are settled in equity instruments. The 

expenses related to the incentive schemes are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income as employee benefit expense during the vesting period with a corresponding adjustment 

to equity.

INCOME TAX

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except 

to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in 

other comprehensive income.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 

the year and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount 

of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or 

received that reflects uncertainty relating to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising 

from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

• Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

• Temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
arrangements to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

• Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which they can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such 

reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the 

extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 

can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differ-

ences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 

manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying 

amount of its assets and liabilities. For this purpose, the carrying amount of investment prop-

erty measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered through sale, and the Group has not 

rebutted this presumption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is 

based on the first-in first-out (FIFO) method or weighted average cost formula and includes ex-

penditure incurred in acquiring the inventory items and bringing them to their existing location 

and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an 
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appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. The Group’s 

inventories consist of finished goods, raw materials, and work-in-progress. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any accumulated impairment losses. 

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then 

they are recognised as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit 

or loss.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 

associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group. 

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their 

estimated residual values applying the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and 

is generally recognised in profit or loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 

term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by 

the end of the lease term. Land and water are not depreciated with the exception of quarries and 

mines, which are subject to substance depreciations.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods 

are as follows:

• Buildings and structures    10–40 years

• Machinery and equipment  3–10 years 

• Large processing machines/ovens  15–25 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 

adjusted if appropriate.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Recognition and measurement

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to 

cash-generating units and tested annually for impairment. In respect of the goodwill relating to 

acquisitions prior to the transition to IFRSs as at 1 January 2015, the Group has not applied IFRS 

retrospectively, e.g. the goodwill at that date represents the amount recognised under Finnish 

Accounting Standards.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets include patents, customer relationships, trademarks and software licenc-

es that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives and are measured at cost less accu-

mulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The Group is not considered to have 

assets with indefinite useful lives.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits em-

bodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on 

internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated so as to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated re-

sidual values applying the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally 

recognised in profit or loss. Goodwill is not amortised.

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows:

• Other intangibles assets   5–10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 

adjusted if appropriate.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are generally recognised as expenses during the financial period in which they 

were incurred. Borrowing costs attributable to the construction of qualifying assets are capitalised 
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as asset acquisition costs. Borrowing costs that arise on loans that are specific to the qualifying 

asset are essentially capitalised. The capitalisation of borrowing costs applies to major investment 

projects, which take a substantial period of time to finalise.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE

Exploration and evaluation activity relates to searches for mineral resources, determination of 

technical feasibility and assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource.

Administration costs that are not directly attributable to a specific exploration area are charged 

to the income statement. Exploration and evaluation expenditure is charged to the income statement 

as incurred except in the following circumstances, in which case the expenditure is capitalised:

In respect of minerals activities:

• When the exploration and evaluation activity is within an area of interest that was previously 
acquired as an asset acquisition or in a business combination and measured at fair value on 
acquisition; or

• When the existence of a commercially viable mineral deposit has been established.

Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure considered to be a tangible asset is recognised 

as a component of property, plant and equipment at cost less impairment losses. Otherwise, it is 

recognised as an intangible asset (such as certain licence and lease arrangements). All capitalised 

exploration and evaluation expenditure is monitored for indications of impairment. To the extent that 

capitalised expenditure is no longer expected to be recovered, it is charged to the income statement.

OVERBURDEN REMOVAL COSTS

The process of removing overburden and other mine waste materials to access mineral deposits 

is referred to as stripping. 

There are two types of stripping activity:

• Development stripping is the initial overburden removal during the development phase to 
obtain access to a mineral deposit that will be commercially produced.

• Production stripping relates to interburden removal during the normal course of production 
activities and commences after the first saleable minerals have been extracted from the 
component.

Development stripping costs are capitalised as a development stripping asset when:

• It is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the entity; and

• The costs can be measured reliably.

Production stripping can give rise to two benefits: the extraction of ore in the current period and 

improved access to the ore body component in future periods. To the extent that the benefit is 

the extraction of ore stripping costs are recognised as an inventory cost. To the extent that the 

benefit is improved access to future ore, stripping costs are recognised as a production stripping 

asset if the following criteria are met:

• It is probable that the future economic benefit (improved access to ore) will flow to the 
entity;

• The component of the ore body for which access has been improved can be identified; and

• The costs relating to the stripping activity can be measured reliably.

The development and production stripping assets are depreciated in accordance with units of 

production based on the proven and probable reserves of the relevant components. Stripping 

assets are classified as other mineral assets in property, plant and equipment.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research costs are recognised as profit or loss as incurred. Expenditure on development, in which 

research findings or other knowledge is applied to produce new or improved products or process-

es, is recognised as an asset in the statement of financial position if the product or process is 

technically and commercially feasible and the company has sufficient resources to complete 

development and then use or sell the intangible asset. Capitalised development costs are pre-

sented in the statement of the financial position and are carried at cost less accumulated amor-

tisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised from the time when 

the asset is ready for use. Capitalised development costs for an asset that is not yet ready for use 

are tested for impairment annually. The estimated useful lives of development costs are reviewed 

at each reporting date and if these estimates differ significantly from previous estimates, the 

amortisation periods are adjusted accordingly. The maximum amortisation period for capitalised 

development costs is 5 years.

Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is reclassified as an asset under construc-

tion and disclosed as a component of property, plant and equipment when proved reserves have 

been determined and development has been sanctioned. All subsequent development expenditure 

is capitalised and classified as assets under construction, provided commercial viability conditions 

continue to be satisfied. On completion of development, all assets included in assets under con-

struction are reclassified as either plant and equipment or other mineral assets. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, capitalised development costs are measured at cost less accumulated amor-

tisation and impairment losses.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group classifies financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and 

amortised cost. The classification of financial assets is based on the cash flow characteristics and 

the business model the asset is managed in.

The Group classifies financial liabilities into the following categories: financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss and amortised cost.

Financial assets and financial liabilities – recognition and derecognition

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and debt securities issued on the date when 

they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on the 

trade date when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 

the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 

which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, 

or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does 

not retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest in such derecognised financial assets 

that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 

of financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends 

either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets – measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost
A financial asset is classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost if it meets the SPPI 

criterion and is managed within a held to collect business model.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
A financial asset is classified and subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehen-

sive income if it meets the SPPI criterion and is managed in a business model in which assets are 

held both for sale and to collect contractual cash flows, or if an investment in an equity instrument 

is elected to be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Derivatives eligible 

for hedge accounting are classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for classification as subsequently measured at either 

amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income are classified and subsequent-

ly measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. These are readily con-

vertible to a known amount of cash and the risk of changes in value is low. Bank overdrafts are 

included in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Financial liabilities – measurement

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at their fair value. The Group 

includes those derivatives for which hedge accounting is not applied and whose fair value is negative. 

Financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value less any 

directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group holds derivative financial instruments, such as swaps, options and forwards, to hedge 

its foreign currency, interest rate, electricity price and emission right price exposures. 

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value; any directly attributable transaction costs are 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured 

at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognised in profit or loss. The fair value changes 

for derivatives not under hedge accounting are recognised in finance income and finance expenses.

Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair 

value is negative. Positive derivative fair values are recognised under current or non-current assets 

and negative derivative fair values are recognised under current or non-current liabilities on the 

statement of financial position.

Hedge accounting
The Group applies hedge accounting to interest rate, electricity and for selected foreign currency 

derivatives. When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective 

portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income 
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and accumulated in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the 

derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The amount accumulated in equity is retained in other comprehensive income and reclassified 

to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast cash flows affect 

profit or loss or the hedged item affects profit or loss.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the hedge no longer meets the cri-

teria for hedge accounting, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or 

the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the forecast 

transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the amount accumulated in equity is reclassified 

to profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT

Financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for the expected credit losses for financial assets not clas-

sified as fair value through profit or loss. The loss allowance is estimated as the full lifetime expect-

ed credit loss if the credit risk of the instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 

otherwise the loss allowance is estimated as the 12 months expected credit loss at the reporting 

date. Possible increase in credit risk for said assets is assessed at the end of each reporting period.

The loss allowance for trade receivables is estimated using the simplified method and measured 

as life time expected credit losses. The expected credit loss is based on historical and forward- 

looking information and is estimated at the end of each reporting period.

Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other 

than investment property, inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is 

any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount 

is estimated.

Impairment is measured at the level of cash generating units, which are the smallest groups of 

assets that independently generate cash flows and whose cash flows can be distinguished from 

other cash flows.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use 

and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, dis-

counted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating units. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit 

exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and initially allocated to reduce the carrying 

amount of any goodwill attributable to the cash generating unit, and then to reduce the carrying 

amounts of the other assets in the cash generating unit on a pro rata basis.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that 

an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for an asset other than goodwill may no longer 

exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable 

amount of that asset, impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. For other assets, 

an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 

impairment loss had been recognised.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the lia-

bility. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

Warranties

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The 

provision is based on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against 

their associated probabilities.

Restructuring

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal 

restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. 

No provisions are recognised for operating losses.

Site restoration

Estimated future expenses for the restoration of a site or area are capitalised. Capitalised amounts 

comprise estimated expenses, calculated at current value, which are simultaneously reported as 

provisions. Effects of subsequent events that result in costs that exceed the provision are discount-

ed, capitalised, and added to the provisions, and then written off over the remaining life of the asset. 
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LEASES

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains 

a lease.

At inception or on reassessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Group separates 

payments and other consideration required for such an arrangement into those for the lease and 

those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Group concludes for a 

finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, then an asset and a liabil-

ity are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently, the 

liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance cost for the liability is recognised 

using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Leased assets

Assets held by the Group under leases that transfer to the Group substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased assets are measured initially at 

an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease pay-

ments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the assets are recognised in accordance with the ac-

counting policy applicable to that asset. 

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the 

Group’s statement of financial position.

Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total 

lease expense over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance 

expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each 

period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability.

Group as lessor

Leases where the Group is a lessor and has transferred substantially all of the risk and rewards to 

the lessee are classified as finance leases. Such arrangements are recognised as a lease 

receivable in the statement of financial position in an amount equal to the present value of the 

lease payments. The lease payments received are allocated between finance income and the 

reduction in the lease receivable. Finance income is recognised in the income statement and al-

located to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 

on the remaining balance of the receivable. 

EBIT
According to the definition used by the Group, EBIT consist of turnover, the share of profit of eq-

uity-accounted investees and other income deducted with total cost of sales, selling and distribu-

tion expenses, administrative expense, research and development expenses and other expenses.

4. New accounting standards  
In 2018, the Group has adopted the following new and amended standards issued by the IASB. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers on 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construc-

tion Contracts and related interpretations. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised when a custom-

er obtains control of the goods or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control, at a 

point in time or over time, requires judgement. The Group solely provides its customers with goods 

where each good provided is distinct from the other goods provided to the customer. The Group 

does not provide services. Sale of goods is the only source of revenue of the Group and consists 

of Portfolio Companies Rettig ICC and Nordkalk. A typical contract with the customer consists of 

a purchase order and order confirmation, including the general terms and conditions of the ar-

rangement. Compared to the previous standards in place, IFRS 15 does not imply any changes in 

revenue recognition in the Group, and therefore has no impact on the financial statements. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The Group has adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments on 1 January 

2018. IFRS 9 replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39. The new standard includes revised guidance 

on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected credit 

loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and the new general hedge accounting 

requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial 

instruments from IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 financial assets are classified and subsequently measured 

based on the cash flow characteristics and the business model they are managed in. The Group 

has reclassified its financial assets to financial assets measured at amortised cost, fair value 

through profit or loss and fair value through other comprehensive income as shown below.
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CLASSIFICATION UNDER IAS 39 CLASSIFICATION UNDER IFRS 9

Trade and other 
receivables

Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Derivatives under hedge 
accounting

Fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income

Derivatives not under 
hedge accounting

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Investment portfolio
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Other investments
Held-to-maturity/  
Loans and receivables

Amortised cost

Other investments  
(Long-term equity 
investments)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income*

* The equity investments in eQ Plc and Terveystalo Plc are considered strategic core investments and therefore the Group has 
chosen to measure said investments at FVTOCI.

 

The Group has elected to adopt the new general hedge accounting model in IFRS 9 prospectively. 

Under IFRS 9 hedge accounting aligns more closely with risk management practises. The Group 

hedges its foreign currency flows on a net exposure basis. Under IAS 39 net exposure hedges did 

not qualify for hedge accounting and were classified and subsequently measured at fair value 

through profit or loss. Under IFRS 9, net exposure hedges are allowed in hedge accounting and 

this increases the use of hedge accounting in the Group significantly.

IFRS 9 replaces the incurred loss model in IAS 39 with an expected credit loss model. The ex-

pected credit loss is based on historical and forward-looking information and is estimated at the 

end of each reporting period. The Group applies the simplified approach to assess the expected 

credit loss for trade receivables, the effect on retained earnings and trade receivables due to the 

adoption of the new expected credit loss model was EUR -682 thousand in the opening balance 

of January 1, 2018. 

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – Clarification and Measurement of Share-based 

Payment Transactions. The amendments address to clarify the classification and measurement 

of share-based payment transactions where cash-settled share-based payments include a per-

formance condition, share-based payments settled net of tax withholdings and modification of 

share-based payment transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments have 

no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IFRIC 22 Interpretation Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration. When foreign 

currency consideration is paid or received in advance of the item it relates to – which may be an 

asset, an expense or income – IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates is not 

clear on how to determine the transaction date for translating the related item. The interpretation 

clarifies that the transaction date is the date on which the company initially recognises the pre-

payment or deferred income arising from the advance consideration. For transactions involving 

multiple payments or receipts, each payment or receipt gives rise to a separate transaction date. 

The interpretation has no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Adoption of new standards and interpretations  
applicable in future financial years 
 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual 

periods beginning after 1 January 2018 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidat-

ed financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the Group are set out below:

IFRS 16 Leases (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The new 

standard replaces IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 requires the lessees to recognise the lease agreements 

on the balance sheet as a right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The accounting model is similar 

to current finance lease accounting according to IAS 17. There are two exceptions available, these 

relate to either short-term contacts in which the lease term is 12 months or less, or to low value 

items i.e. assets of value EUR 5,000 or less. The lessor accounting remains mostly similar to 

current IAS 17 accounting. The Group will adopt the standard using the modified retrospective 

approach where comparative figures will not be restated, further, the Group intends to use the 

two available reliefs, low-value and short -term leases, to the widest possible extent. 

The Group evaluates that the implementation of IFRS 16 will have a yearly positive impact on 

EBITDA of approximately EUR 9,000 thousand and increase the Right-Of-Use-Asset and lease 

liability by approximately EUR 34,500 thousand, no material change is expected to be recognised 

in equity. The actual impact of the standard on 1 January 2019 may change mainly due to the fact 

that the new accounting policies are subject to change until the Group presents its first financial 

statements that include the date of initial application.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates 

and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture* (the effective date has been postponed indefinitely). The amendments address to clarify 

the requirements in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its as-

sociate or joint venture. The amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs (2014–2016 cycle)* (effective for financial years beginning on 

or after 1 January 2017 for IFRS 12 and on or after 1 January 2018 for IFRS 1 and IAS 28). The annual 
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improvements process provides a mechanism for minor and non-urgent amendments to IFRSs 

to be grouped together and issued in one package annually. The cycle contains amendments to 

three standards. Their impacts vary standard by standard but are not significant.

* = not yet endorsed for use by the European Union as of 31 December 2018.

5. Acquisitions
2018

Acquisition of Sigarth AB

On 30 November 2018 Rettig ICC Group acquired 100 per cent of the issued share capital of 

Sigarth AB. Sigarth is a market leader in radiator suspension systems and accessories with over 

50 years of industry experience. Sigarth is Rettig ICC Group’s main supplier of radiator brackets 

and through the acquisition Rettig ICC will insource its manufacturing of brackets. In addition, 

the acquisition complements Rettig ICC’s indoor climate comfort offering.

The initial purchase price amounted to EUR 6,731 thousand. The additional impact of the 

purchase on the Group’s revenue and profit for the financial year amounted to EUR 307 thousand 

and EUR -260 thousand respectively. If the acquisition had been on 1 January 2018, the addition-

al impact on the Group’s revenues and profit for the financial year would have been EUR 6,057 

thousand and EUR 775 thousand respectively. The acquisition related costs amounted to  

EUR 85 thousand and were included in non-recurring other operating expenses in 2018.

The fair values of assets and liabilities have been established using accepted valuation methods 

and projections by the Rettig Group management. The preliminary fair values of assets and lia-

bilities at the date of acquisition are disclosed in the following table.

FAIR VALUE

EUR thousand

Non-current assets 1,475

Current assets 4,293

TOTAL ASSETS 5,768

Non-current liabilities 19

Current liabilities 2,170

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,189

Net assets acquired 3,579

Preliminary goodwill 3,153

PURCHASE CONSIDERATION 6,732

COST OF ACQUISITION 

Purchase price in cash 6,731

TOTAL COST OF ACQUISITION 6,731

NET CASH FLOW

Purchase price 6,731

Cash and cash equivalents acquired -738

NET CASH FLOW OF ACQUISITION 5,993

 
2017
There were no business combinations during 2017.

6. Discontinued operations
2018
There were no divestments during 2018.

2017
There were no divestments during 2017.
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7. Turnover
TURNOVER BY MARKET AREA 

RETTIG ICC NORDKALK OTHER TOTAL

EUR thousand 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Finland 12,829 12,889 152,739 158,960 401 612 165,969 172,461

Other EU countries 584,073 562,394 135,953 138,361 0 0 720,026 700,755

Other European countries 16,205 17,766 6,066 1,856 0 0 22,271 19,622

Other market areas 68,905 90,981 5,328 4,399 0 0 74,233 95,380

TOTAL 682,013 684,030 300,085 303,576 401 612 982,499 988,218

 
TURNOVER BY MAJOR PRODUCTS 

RETTIG ICC NORDKALK OTHER TOTAL

EUR thousand 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Panels 335,865 341,754 0 0 0 0 335,865 341,754

Tubular, electric radiators and 
convectors

80,027 79,934 0 0 0 0 80,027 79,934

Components and Systems 259,880 256,981 0 0 0 0 259,880 256,981

Pulp and Paper 0 0 76,886 75,501 0 0 76,886 75,501

Metals and Mining 0 0 52,203 58,308 0 0 52,203 58,308

Construction 0 0 77,690 78,077 0 0 77,690 78,077

Chemical Industry 0 0 24,878 28,916 0 0 24,878 28,916

Agriculture 0 0 33,694 30,421 0 0 33,694 30,421

Environment 0 0 32,344 30,579 0 0 32,344 30,579

Other 6,241 5,361 2,390 1,774 401 612 9,032 7,747

TOTAL 682,013 684,030 300,085 303,576 401 612 982,499 988,218

Revenue from contracts with customers 682,013 684,030 300,085 303,576 401 612 982,499 988,218

TIMING OF REVENUE RECOGNITION

Products transferred at a point in time 682,013 684,030 300,085 303,576 401 612 982,499 988,218
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8. Income and expenses

OTHER INCOME

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Gain from sale of fixed assets 1,436 598

Rent income 1,655 1,124

Subsidies and grants 213 339

Compensation from insurance company 1,458 3,199

Non-recurring income other 5,138 17,911

Sale of district heating 1,094 1,589

Sales of services 2,585 2,230

Other 3,172 4,499

TOTAL 16,753 31,489

OTHER EXPENSES

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Losses on divestment of fixed assets 84 77

Non-recurring expenses other 6,359 4,001

Restructuring costs 1,610 3,914

Project(s) costs 1,642 2,480

Other 10,298 11,681

TOTAL 19,993 22,153

EXPENSES BY NATURE

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Energy 54,063 52,953

Material 399,795 402,055

Employee benefits 202,998 197,844

Sub-contracting services 35,537 34,945

Maintenance 28,136 28,521

Depreciation and amortisation 44,365 64,640

Research and development expenses 1,768 1,654

External transportation 65,896 69,185

Other 98,445 94,864

TOTAL 931,003 946,662

AUDITOR FEES

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Audit 671 760

Audit-related services 26 18

Tax advisory 179 155

Other services 43 73

TOTAL 918 1,006
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9. Net financial items
2018 2017

EUR thousand

FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF DERIVATIVES

Foreign exchange 312 528

Electricity 1,308 299

Emission rights 148 0

Interest income 2,536 3,565

Exchange differences 14,962 13,815

Gains from investments 4,795 3,177

Other finance income 2,346 2,315

FINANCE  INCOME 26,407 23,699

FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF DERIVATIVES

Foreign exchange 733 2,689

Electricity -103 0

Interest expense -13,542 -12,457

Exchange differences -15,716 -15,984

Loss from investments -2,532 -1,002

Unwind of discount on site restoration provision -40 -78

Other finance expense -2,198 -2,719

FINANCE COSTS -33,399 -29,551

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS RECOGNISED IN PROFIT OR LOSS -6,992 -5,852

10. Employee benefits
PENSION AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group has a number of pension plans covering its operations in various countries, all of which 

comply with the relevant country’s rules and obligations. The Group operates defined contribution 

and defined benefit pension plans. The major defined benefit plans are located in the United 

Kingdom, Ireland, Austria and Germany. Together these plans account for 84 per cent of the 

Group’s total defined benefit obligation and 98 per cent of the total plan assets.

Under the defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately 

administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group 

has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 

Defined benefit plans are pension plans that are not defined contribution plans. The defined benefit 

obligation is calculated by independent authorised actuaries. The discount rate for actuarial calcu-

lations is determined by reference to market yields on high-quality corporate bonds or government 

bonds taking into account the duration of the defined benefit obligation. The applied discount rates 

are country-specific. Pension benefits are normally based on the number of years’ service and salary. 

The Group is exposed to a number of risks through its defined benefit plans. A decrease in bond 

yields would increase plan liabilities. Some of the Group’s pension obligations are linked to inflation, 

an increase in which would lead to higher liabilities. The majority of the plans’ obligations are to 

provide benefits over the lifetime of the plan member, which means that increases in life expec-

tancy will increase the plan liabilities. 

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Defined benefit asset 523 656

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFIT ASSET 523 656

Defined benefit liability 25,044 26,870

Liability for long-service leave 3,698 3,814

Other employee benefits 495 624

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS LIABILITIES 29,236 31,308

Non-current 29,236 31,308

TOTAL 29,236 31,308
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MOVEMENT IN NET DEFINED BENEFIT (ASSET) LIABILITY

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS NET DEFINED BENEFITS LIABILITY (ASSET)

EUR thousand 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Balance at 1 January 89,598 94,161 63,392 61,957 26,206 32,204

INCLUDED IN INCOME STATEMENT

Current service cost 947 877 0 0 947 877

Interest income 0 0 1,485 1,504 -1,485 -1,504

Past service cost (credit) 1,021 0 0 0 1,021 0

Interest cost (income) 1,889 1,991 0 0 1,889 1,991

INCLUDED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

Actuarial loss (gain) arising from  
change in demographic assumptions

-524 -384 0 0 -524 -384

Actuarial loss (gain) arising from  
change in financial assumptions

-3,916 1,901 0 0 -3,916 1,901

Actuarial loss (gain) arising from experience adjustments -169 -2,055 -3,077 4,401 2,908 -6,456

Effect of movements in exchange rates -513 -2,084 -403 -1,837 -110 -247

OTHER

Contributions paid by the employer 0 0 1,578 2,227 -1,578 -2,227

Benefits paid -3,506 -5,826 -2,668 -5,621 -838 -205

Business combinations and disposals -1 -190 0 -42 -1 -148

Other 18 1,207 16 803 2 404

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 84,844 89,598 60,323 63,392 24,521 26,206
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PLAN ASSETS

The Group’s post-employment benefits plan assets mainly consist of equity and debt instruments.

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Actuarial assumptions

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as 

weighted averages).

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Discount rate 2.40% 2.14%

Expected salary growth 2.38% 2.25%

Expected future pension growth 2.37% 2.42%

At 31 December 2018, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 15.3 

years (2017: 15.4 years). In 2019 the Group expects to pay EUR 2,011 thousand to the defined 

benefit plans.

Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably probable changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, 

all other assumptions remaining unchanged, would have affected the defined benefit obligation 

by the amounts shown below.

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand INCREASE DECREASE INCREASE DECREASE

Discount rate (1% movement) -11,922 11,922 -12,711 12,711

Future salary growth (1% movement) 968 -968 1,106 -1,106

Future pension growth (1% movement 8,822 -8,822 8,668 -8,668

While the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the 

plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

In 2018, the Group implemented three long-term incentive plans separately to the key management 

of Rettig Group, Rettig ICC Group and Nordkalk Group. The plans consist of two equity-settled 

compensation schemes, restricted matching shares and performance shares, and are condition-

al to the receiver making an initial personal investment in the company in question.

Restricted matching shares are earned based on continuation of employment and holding of 

personal initial investment. Restricted matching shares are paid upon initial investment. The 

restricted matching shares have a tranched vesting pattern that follows the performance periods 

and vest gradually during 2018–2023. The share-based expense recognised in 2018 related to 

the restricted matching shares was EUR 55 thousand.

Performance shares are earned based on continuation of employment, holding of personal 

initial investment and subject to the fulfilment of predetermined performance criteria over the 

performance period. The plan includes four three-year performance periods which are calendar 

years 2018–2020, 2019–2021, 2020–2022 and 2021–2023. The grant date for all performance 

periods is determined as 31 December 2017. 

The performance criterion for the performance periods is the ultimate parent company’s 

theoretical Internal Rate of Return (IRR) for its shareholding in the company in question. The IRR 

is treated as a non-market condition and is based on a theoretical valuation of the company in 

question at the end of each performance period and takes into account cash flows to and from 

the parent company. At the end of each reporting period the cumulative share-based cost ex-

pected to be paid out is revised based on the estimated IRR at the end of the performance period 

at that point in time. 

At the reporting date approximately 30% of the maximum performance shares were estimat-

ed to vest. The share-based expense recognised in 2018 related to the performance shares was 

EUR 1,587 thousand.
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11. Employee benefit expenses 
 

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Wages and salaries 157,994 162,384

Social security contributions 40,403 33,378

Contributions to defined contribution plans 2,978 2,711

Share-based payments 1,622 0

TOTAL 202,998 198,473

 
NUMBER OF PERSONNEL, AVERAGE 

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Finland 483 480

Other EU countries 3,480 3,453

Other European countries 56 65

Rest of the world 189 181

TOTAL 4,207 4,179

12. Income taxes
AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN INCOME STATEMENT

2018 2017

EUR thousand

CURRENT YEAR AND PREVIOUS YEARS TAXES

For the financial period -10,954 -13,901

For previous financial periods 32 -56

Change in deferred taxes 4 3,936

TOTAL -10,917 -10,020

 

AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2018 2017

EUR thousand

ITEMS THAT WILL NEVER BE RECLASSIFIED TO INCOME STATEMENT

Tax related to post-employment defined benefit plans -164 -288

ITEMS THAT ARE OR MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO INCOME STATEMENT

Tax related to cash flow hedges –  
effective portion of changes in fair value

-895 -302

Tax related to available for sale financial assets 0 1,747

TOTAL -1,060 1,157

RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Profit before tax 41,736 46,822

Tax using the company's domestic tax rate (20%) -8,347 -9,364

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 624 942

Non-deductible expenses -3,226 -2,702

Tax-exempt income 2,946 2,417

Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised -2,407 -338

Utilization of tax losses for which no deferred tax has been 
recognised

-6 81

Change in unrecognised temporary differences (tax losses) -338 331

Prior year taxes -294 -9

Effect of tax consolidation/tax group in one country 258 257

Effect of share of profits of equity-accounted investees 15 453

Other -143 -2,088

TAX IN INCOME STATEMENT IN EURO -10,917 -10,021

The effective tax rate of the Group was 26.16% for the year 2018 (21.40% for 2017).
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 2018

OPENING 
BALANCE AT  

1 JANUARY

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCE 

OPENING

RECOGNISED 
IN INCOME 

STATEMENT

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCE 

INCOME STATEMENT

RECOGNISED 
IN OCI

ACQUISITIONS, 
DIVESTMENTS 

AND OTHER

CLOSING 
BALANCE AT  

31 DECEMBER

EUR thousand

Intangible assets 22 0 -22 0 0 0 0

Property, plant and equipment 1,116 -3 70 0 0 2 1,185

Financial assets 1,764 -4 -175 -6 -162 0 1,418

Inventories 2,346 -19 -315 1 0 216 2,228

Post-employment benefit obligations/assets 3,280 -2 -151 0 -190 0 2,933

Provisions 2,010 -47 -105 -28 0 196 2,026

Tax losses carried forward 11,638 0 -1,534 0 0 885 10,988

Long-term assets/liabilities -884 27 -144 0 0 0 -1,002

Short-term assets/liabilities -809 -5 1,709 -1 0 -1,335 -441

Other temporary differences 4,967 -87 -303 1 0 -87 4,491

TOTAL DEFERRED TAX 25,450 -141 -970 -33 -353 -124 23,826

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 2018

OPENING 
BALANCE AT  

1 JANUARY

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCE 

OPENING

RECOGNISED 
IN INCOME 

STATEMENT

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCE 

INCOME STATEMENT

RECOGNISED 
IN OCI

ACQUISITIONS, 
DIVESTMENTS 

AND OTHER

CLOSING 
BALANCE AT  

31 DECEMBER

EUR thousand

Intangible assets 3,047 0 -383 0 0 0 2,664

Property, plant and equipment 16,049 -132 1,252 0 0 0 17,169

Financial assets 2,372 -6 431 1 733 0 3,530

Inventories 999 -9 -854 0 0 0 137

Post-employment benefit obligations/assets 221 -1 6 0 -26 0 201

Provisions 98 0 3 -16 0 14 99

Long-term assets/liabilities -1,110 20 197 0 0 12 -881

Short-term assets/liabilities -787 -2 -2,296 20 0 8 -3,057

Other temporary differences 322 -9 669 -2 0 0 980

TOTAL DEFERRED TAX 21,211 -139 -973 3 707 34 20,841
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 2017

OPENING 
BALANCE AT  

1 JANUARY

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCE 

OPENING

RECOGNISED 
IN INCOME 

STATEMENT

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCE 

INCOME STATEMENT

RECOGNISED 
IN OCI

ACQUISITIONS, 
DIVESTMENTS 

AND OTHER

CLOSING 
BALANCE AT  

31 DECEMBER

EUR thousand

Intangible assets 519 0 -498 0 0 0 22

Property, plant and equipment 1,350 24 -277 -3 0 22 1,116

Financial assets 2,829 1 -749 -1 -315 0 1,764

Inventories 3,397 32 -113 1 0 -970 2,346

Post-employment benefit obligations/assets 3,799 4 -422 -2 -240 141 3,280

Provisions 2,067 15 -103 23 0 7 2,010

Tax losses carried forward 11,408 0 -184 0 0 414 11,638

Long-term assets/liabilities -897 -53 449 0 0 -384 -884

Short-term assets/liabilities -1,099 8 311 1 0 -29 -809

Other temporary differences 5,411 193 -633 -4 0 0 4,967

TOTAL DEFERRED TAX 28,784 225 -2,219 15 -555 -800 25,450

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 2017

OPENING 
BALANCE AT  

1 JANUARY

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCE 

OPENING

RECOGNISED 
IN INCOME 

STATEMENT

EXCHANGE 
DIFFERENCE 

INCOME STATEMENT

RECOGNISED 
IN OCI

ACQUISITIONS, 
DIVESTMENTS 

AND OTHER

CLOSING 
BALANCE AT  

31 DECEMBER

EUR thousand

Intangible assets 4,521 0 -1,474 0 0 0 3,047

Property, plant and equipment 24,138 125 -2,404 -17 0 -739 16,049

Financial assets 4,314 -1 -177 -5 -1,760 0 2,372

Inventories 1,126 8 -136 1 0 0 999

Post-employment benefit obligations/assets 167 0 7 0 48 0 221

Provisions 98 0 1 -1 0 1 98

Tax losses carried forward -22 0 0 0 0 0 0

Long-term assets/liabilities -462 -64 -224 -2 0 -358 -1,110

Short-term assets/liabilities -5,569 3 -253 -1 0 0 -787

Other temporary differences 1,856 -29 -1,494 -13 0 2 322

TOTAL DEFERRED TAX 30,167 43 -6,155 -38 -1,712 -1,094 21,211
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UNRECOGNISED DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The Group does not provide for deferred taxes on the distributable earnings of non-Finnish 

subsidiaries, to the extent that such earnings are intended to be permanently reinvested in those 

operations and repatriation would give rise to tax expenses.

UNRECOGNISED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items, since it is not 

probable that future taxable profits will be available against which to utilise the benefits.

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Tax losses without expiration date 18,497 30,314

Tax losses with expiration date 4,320 3,046

TAX LOSSES CARRIED FORWARD

Tax losses carried forward expire as follows.

TAX LOSSES  
CARRIED FORWARD

TAX LOSSES FOR WHICH 
DEFERRED TAX HAS  
BEEN RECOGNISED

TAX LOSSES FOR WHICH 
NO DEFERRED TAX HAS 

BEEN RECOGNISED

EUR thousand 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Never expire 56,125 67,978 37,628 37,664 18,497 30,314

Total losses with 
expiration date

12,992 9,339 8,672 6,293 4,320 3,046

Current year 9 3 0 0 9 3

Current year + 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Current year + 2 505 85 92 85 413 0

Current year + 3 2,369 937 1,857 695 512 242

Current year + 4 4,372 3,311 3,800 3,210 572 101

Current year + 5 
or more

5,738 5,002 2,923 2,303 2,815 2,699

13. Inventories

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Raw materials and consumables 44,570 46,641

Work in progress 17,982 16,449

Finished goods 102,361 98,330

GROSS VALUE OF INVENTORIES 164,913 161,420

Inventory provision to the carrying value -10,542 -10,471

TOTAL 154,371 150,949

In 2018 EUR 71 thousand was recognised as obsolescence impairment in the income statements 

(2017 EUR 1,484 thousand)
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14. Trade and other receivables

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Trade receivables 127,408 131,742

Trade receivables due from related parties 890 1,075

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Electricity 6,084 1,324

Foreign exchange 3,567 3,215

Emission rights 148 0

Financial leasing receivables 10,477 12,134

Other receivables 31,464 27,772

TOTAL 180,037 177,262

Non-current 14,455 16,653

Current 165,582 160,609

TOTAL 180,037 177,262

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
Finance lease receivables are receivable as follows.

2018 2017

EUR thousand FUTURE 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

INTEREST

PRESENT 
VALUE OF 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

FUTURE 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

INTEREST

PRESENT 
VALUE OF 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

Less than 1 year 2,865 421,00 2,444 2,526 324,00 2,202

Between 1 and 
5 years

9,814 1,781 8,033 10,423 491 9,932

More than  
5 years

0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 12,679 2,202 10,477 12,949 815 12,134

CREDIT AND MARKET RISKS, AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risks, and impairment losses for 

trade and other receivables is included in Note 26.

15. Cash and cash equivalents

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Bank balances 56,082 39,468

TOTAL 56,082 39,468
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16. Property, plant and equipment
RECONCILIATION OF THE CARRYING AMOUNT

LAND AND WATER BUILDINGS
PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

OTHER ASSETS  
UNDER 

CONSTRUCTION
TOTAL

EUR thousand

Balance at 1 January 2017 86,429 186,046 551,831 24,129 33,186 881,622

Additions 8,334 1,334 15,583 1,459 20,484 47,194

Transfers and/or corrections 3,033 1,891 26,574 1,459 -33,245 -288

Disposals -452 -17,010 -2,197 -12 -1,109 -20,780

Effect of movements in exchange rates 123 2,128 2,760 478 -615 4,874

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 97,467 174,387 594,550 27,514 18,702 912,620

Balance at 1 January 2018 97,467 174,387 594,550 27,514 18,702 912,620

Additions 489 1,519 15,039 979 31,487 49,513

Acquisitions through business combinations 75 277 1108 0 0 1,460

Transfers and/or corrections 1,491 2,274 9,049 1,933 -17,760 -3,012

Disposals -113 -384 -2,438 -228 -1,034 -4,198

Effect of movements in exchange rates -2,684 -2,096 -7,548 -444 -262 -13,034

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 96,725 175,978 609,760 29,753 31,133 943,349

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 January 2017 -25,608 -91,788 -427,422 -11,319 0 -556,138

Depreciation -4,598 -7,422 -45,912 -2,221 0 -60,153

Disposals 0 14,193 1,821 5 0 16,019

Effect of movements in exchange rates 34 -674 -1,883 -192 0 -2,715

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 -30,173 -85,691 -473,396 -13,727 0 -602,986

Balance at 1 January 2018 -30,173 -85,691 -473,396 -13,727 0 -602,986

Depreciation -4,491 -6,779 -26,268 -2,406 0 -39,944

Disposals 0 28 2,001 126 0 2,155

Effect of movements in exchange rates 338 792 5,541 246 0 6,917

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 -34,326 -91,649 -492,122 -15,761 0 -633,859

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 31 December 2017 67,294 88,697 121,154 13,786 18,702 309,634

At 31 December 2018 62,399 84,328 117,638 13,992 31,133 309,490
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Leased plant and machinery

The Group leases production equipment under a number of finance leases. Certain obligations 

attach to the equipment leased. At 31 December 2018, the net carrying amount of leased equip-

ment was EUR 18,418 thousand (31 December 2017: EUR 21,470 thousand).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT UNDER CONSTRUCTION

During 2017 the Swedish Supreme Administrative Court ruled that the Swedish Government’s 

decision to make the Bunge quarry-area to be a Natura 2000 protected area was not unlawful. 

In practice this decreases the likelihood to conduct mining activities in this area. Therefore, the 

Group has recognised an impairment of approximately EUR 20,000 thousand regarding the 

capitalised costs of the Bunge quarry.
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17. Intangible assets 
RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING AMOUNT

GOODWILL
INTANGIBLE 

RIGHTS
DEVELOPMENT 

EXPENSES
TRADEMARK 

RELATED
CUSTOMER 

RELATED
OTHER CAPITALISED 

EXPENSES
TOTAL

EUR thousand

Balance at 1 January 2017 156,084 15,793 1,982 6,240 9,992 13,046 203,136

Increases 0 741 61 0 0 844 1,647

Transfers and/or corrections 0 16 -271 0 0 -1,361 -1,616

Effect of movements in exchange rates 0 66 -19 0 0 -37 10

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 156,084 16,617 1,753 6,240 9,992 12,491 203,177

Balance at 1 January 2018 156,084 16,617 1,753 6,240 9,992 12,491 203,177

Increases 0 321 44 0 0 2,179 2,544

Acquisitions through business combinations 3,153 0 0 0 0 0 3,153

Transfers and/or correction 1 -150 7 0 0 1,252 1,109

Effect of movements in exchange rates 0 -76 -4 0 0 -27 -106

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 159,237 16,712 1,800 6,240 9,992 15,895 209,877

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 January 2017 0 -13,040 -792 -451 -1,546 -10,430 -26,259

Amortisation 0 -916 -504 -416 -1,427 -1,224 -4,487

Decrease due to divestments 0 0 0 0 0 340 340

Transfers 0 33 266 0 0 2,010 2,310

Effect of movements in exchange rates 0 -63 12 0 0 30 -21

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 0 -13,986 -1,017 -867 -2,973 -9,274 -28,117

Balance at 1 January 2018 0 -13,986 -1,017 -867 -2,973 -9,274 -28,117

Amortisation 0 -925 -400 -416 -1,427 -1,304 -4,471

Decreases due to divestments 0 251 0 0 0 1 252

Transfers 0 19 0 0 0 -33 -14

Effect of movements in exchange rates 0 72 4 0 0 20 97

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 0 -14,568 -1,412 -1,283 -4,400 -10,590 -32,253

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 31 December 2017 156,084 2,631 736 5,373 7,019 3,218 175,060

At 31 December 2018 159,237 2,144 388 4,957 5,592 5,305 177,623

Amortisation

Amortisation of patents, trademarks and development costs is included in research and development costs.
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18. Impairment testing of goodwill
The Group’s cash generating units for impairment testing of goodwill are Rettig ICC and Nordkalk. 

The cash generating units’ accumulated cash flows are independent of each other. For the pur-

poses of impairment testing, goodwill of EUR 74,712 thousand was allocated to Rettig ICC and 

EUR 81,372 thousand to Nordkalk. The purchase price calculation on the acquisition of Sigarth 

AB on 30 November 2018 is still preliminary and pending the final closing accounts. The prelim-

inary goodwill on the acquisition of EUR 3,153 thousand is expected to be allocated in full during 

2019 and is therefore not tested for impairment.

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to cash generating units:

RETTIG ICC NORDKALK
PRELIMINARY 

GOODWILL
TOTAL

EUR thousand

Carrying amount 74,712 81,372 3,153 159,237

The Group performed its annual impairment tests in September 2018.

KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED IN VALUE-IN-USE CALCULATIONS

Cash flow estimates

In the impairment testing, the cash flow forecasts for both cash generating units are based on 

operative three-year plans. The financial plans are conducted annually and are approved by 

management. The cash flow forecasts cover a three-year period and also have an effect on the 

terminal period. Cash flows beyond this management-approved forecast period were extrapo-

lated using a constant 2 per cent growth rate, which reflects the sustainable long-term level of 

the operations.

Discount rates

Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each cash gener-

ating unit and are determined using the weighted average cost of capital, based on industry peers.

The components of the discount rate are

• Market-specific risk-free rate, based on a weighted average for the largest markets

• Market risk premium, based on a weighted average for the largest markets

• Industry-specific risk, which is incorporated by applying asset beta factors that are annually 
derived from publicly available market data for peer companies

• Required return of debt, based on market information

• Debt-to-equity ratio, based on industry peers

The discount rates determined are a pre-tax rates. The pre-tax discount rate used for Rettig ICC 

is 9.1 per cent (8.4 per cent in December 2017) and for Nordkalk 9.1 per cent (10.2 per cent in 

December 2017).

The conducted tests show that the recoverable amounts for Rettig ICC and Nordkalk exceed 

the respective carrying amounts including goodwill and that there is no need to recognise an 

impairment of goodwill.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Calculations of the value-in-use are sensitive to the discount rate and the growth rate used to 

extrapolate cash flows beyond the three-year plan. A sensitivity analysis was carried out on Rettig 

ICC and Nordkalk using downside scenarios. The scenarios involved reducing the cash flow es-

timate and/or raising the applied discount rate. If the cash flows for Rettig ICC were increased 

by 7.1 percentage points less than the original forecast, or if the discount rate was increased by 

5.2 percentage points, the combined total of the carrying amount would exceed the recoverable 

amount of the unit. If the cash flows for Nordkalk were increased by 4.1 percentage points less 

than the original forecast, or if the discount rate was increased by 3.2 percentage points, the 

combined total of the carrying amount would exceed the recoverable amount of the unit.

In conducting the sensitivity analysis, it is the management’s view that any possible changes 

in any of the variables used, when reasonably assessed, will not lead to a situation in which the 

recoverable amounts would be less than the segment’s carrying amount.
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19. Equity-accounted investees

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Interests in associates 32,318 35,506

Interest in joint venture 4,391 3,821

TOTAL 36,709 39,327

JOINT VENTURE

NorFraKalk AS is the only joint arrangement in which the Group participates. It is a lime kiln built 

in co-operation with Franzefoss Minerals AS and located in Norway. The Group management has 

designated the arrangement a joint venture as the parties that have joint control of the arrange-

ment have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

The following table shows summary financial information for NorFraKalk. 

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Percentage ownership interest 50% 50%

Non-current assets 14,844 16,169

Current assets 7,008 6,553

Non-current liabilities 8,789 9,696

Current liabilities 4,282 6,013

Net assets (100%) 8,781 7,013

Group's share of net assets (50%) 4,390 3,506

CARRYING AMOUNT OF INTEREST  
IN JOINT VENTURE

4,390 3,506

Turnover 12,948 14,627

EBIT 849 -2,894

Profit/loss for the period 938 -2,327

GROUP'S SHARE OF PROFIT/LOSS  
FOR THE PERIOD

469 -1,163

Other comprehensive income 975 0

Total comprehensive income for the period (100%) 1,913 -2,327

50% of total comprehensive income 957 -1,163

Exchange difference -73 -387

GROUP’S SHARE OF  
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

884 -1,550
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ASSOCIATES

Alandia is one of the leading marine insurers in the Nordic and Baltic region. It has a strong market 

share in hull & machinery insurance (H&M) in Finland, Sweden and the Baltic states. The follow-

ing table shows summarised financial information for Försäkringsaktiebolaget Alandia.

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Percentage ownership interest 25.0% 25.0%

ASSETS

Intangible assets 231 172

Investments 273,546 304,265

Receivables 30,399 25,860

Other assets 31,583 23,635

Prepayments and accrued income 5,929 2,797

TOTAL 341,687 356,729

LIABILITIES

Technical provisions 185,919 175,737

Liabilities 21,296 31,454

Accruals and deferred income 4,817 5,764

TOTAL 212,032 212,955

Net assets (100%) 129,655 143,774

Group's share of net assets 32,414 35,944

CARRYING AMOUNT OF INTEREST  
IN ASSOCIATED COMPANY

32,414 35,944

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Premiums written and investment income 78,991 70,131

Balance on technical account -2,928 16,749

Profit/loss for the period -1,580 13,559

GROUP'S SHARE OF PROFIT/LOSS  
FOR THE PERIOD

-395 3,390

Other comprehensive income 0 -4,122

Total comprehensive income for the period (100%) -1,580 9,437

GROUP’S SHARE OF TOTAL  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

-395 2,359

Dividends received by the Group -2,975 -2,560

New issue of shares -159 -403

The Group has one non-material local associate in Pargas, Pargas Hyreshus Ab. The Group’s 

share of carrying amount in Pargas Hyreshus Ab is EUR -96 thousand.
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20. Other investments

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Loan receivable 857 3,000

Profit participation loan 4 6,450

Equity investments through  
other comprehensive income

213,889 0

Financial investments available for sale 0 150,034

Other investments 790 2,582

215,540 162,066

CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Short-term investment portfolio 51,137 54,264

Other investments 75 75

51,212 54,339

TOTAL 266,752 216,406

The Group adopted IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 and consequently elected to present the investments 

in Terveystalo Plc and eQ Plc, previously classified as available-for-sale, at fair value through other 

comprehensive income. In December 2018 the Group’s investments in Terveystalo Plc and eQ 

Plc amounted to EUR 169,754 thousand (EUR 117,799 thousand in December 2017) and EUR 

44,135 thousand (EUR 32,237 thousand in December 2017) respectively.

Other non-current investments include other unlisted shares recognised for at cost less any 

impairment losses, since it was not possible to determine their fair value reliably. More detailed 

information regarding investments is disclosed in Notes 26 and 27.

21. Capital and reserves

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Amount of shares 18,104,862 179,000

Share capital 3,011 3,011

Invested unrestricted equity fund 8,921 5,500

Reserves -38,790 -10,107

Retained earnings 466,827 462,280

TOTAL 439,969 460,684

 
SHARE CAPITAL

The company’s share capital is divided into two categories: ordinary shares and A shares. A total 

of 18,104,862 shares are in circulation of which 25,862 are A shares. One ordinary share carries 

20 votes, an A share carries 1 vote. In accordance with the Articles of Association the shares have 

no nominal value. All shares confer equal rights to the distribution of dividends. All issued shares 

have been fully paid. The Group companies do not hold any treasury shares. 

The subscription price of a share received in connection with share issues is credited to the 

share capital, unless the share issue decision provides that part of or the full subscription price is 

to be recorded in the invested unrestricted equity fund.

INVESTED UNRESTRICTED EQUITY FUND

The invested unrestricted equity fund includes other equity investments and any part of the subscrip-

tion price of the shares that according to the related decision is not to be credited to the share capital.

OTHER RESERVES

Other reserves include the hedging, cumulative translation difference and fair-value reserves. The 

hedging reserve includes derivative instruments used for cash flow hedging. The fair-value reserve 

is an accumulated reserve based on equity investments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income and share of other comprehensive income from equity accounted inves-

tees. The translation difference reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from 

the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
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RETAINED EARNINGS

Retained earnings include earnings and losses, remeasurement of defined benefit plans and the 

reserve of share-based payments.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
ACCUMULATED IN RESERVES, NET OF TAX

The disaggregation of other comprehensive income by each type of reserve in equity:

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
NON-CONTROLLING 

INTERESTS
TOTAL OCI

EUR thousand
TRANSLATION 

RESERVE
HEDGING 
RESERVE

FAIR VALUE 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL

31 DECEMBER 2018

Re-measurements of defined benefit liability (asset) 0 0 0 1,653 1,653 0 1,653

Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences -8,960 0 0 0 -8,960 0 -8,960

Cash flow hedges – effective portion of changes in fair value 0 1,214 0 0 1,214 0 1,214

Available-for-sale financial assets – change in fair value 0 0 -31,507 0 -31,507 0 -31,507

Equity-accounted investees – share of other comprehensive 
income

0 0 462 0 462 0 462

TOTAL -8,960 1,214 -31,044 1,653 -37,137 0 -37,137

31 DECEMBER 2017

Re-measurements of defined benefit liability (asset) 0 0 0 207 207 0 207

Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences -3,002 0 0 0 -3,002 0 -3,002

Cash flow hedges – effective portion of changes in fair value 0 -2,253 0 0 -2,253 0 -2,253

Available-for-sale financial assets – change in fair value 0 0 -1,634 0 -1,634 0 -1,634

Equity-accounted investees – share of other comprehensive 
income

0 0 -3,218 0 -3,218 0 -3,218

TOTAL -3,002 -2,253 -4,852 207 -9,899 0 -9,899
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22. Capital management
The Board’s policy is to retain a sufficiently robust capital base to maintain market confidence 

and to sustain future development of the business. 

The Board of Directors seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be 

possible with higher levels of borrowings and the benefits and security afforded by a sound capital 

position.

23. Loans and borrowings
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Loans from financial institutions 149,754 156,544

Corporate bond 198,212 108,939

Finance lease liabilities 14,529 17,253

Other loans 5,767 4,410

TOTAL 368,263 287,146

 
CURRENT LIABILITIES

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Loans from related party 117 539

Current portion of long-term loans  
from financial institutions

30,000 3,636

Current portion of finance lease liabilities 4,213 4,610

Commercial paper 64,873 79,905

Other loans 3,817 5

TOTAL 103,021 88,695

TOTAL LIABILITIES 471,284 375,841

Information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk is 

included in Note 26.
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CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The cash flow from financing activities is as follows.

LOANS FROM  
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

CORPORATE  
BOND

FINANCE LEASE  
LIABILITIES

COMMERCIAL  
PAPERS

OTHER  
LOANS

TOTAL

EUR thousand

Balance as at 1 January 2018 160,180 108,939 21,863 79,905 4,954 375,841

CHANGES FROM FINANCING CASH FLOWS

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 25,000 90,000 0 0 5,169 120,169

Repayment of borrowings -5,454 0 0 -14,899 -422 -20,775

Payment of financial lease liabilities 0 0 -4,760 0 0 -4,760

TOTAL 19,546 90,000 -4,760 -14,899 4,747 94,634

OTHER CHANGES

New financial lease 0 0 1,640 0 0 1,640

Interest expense 29 -727 -133 0 -832

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 179,755 198,212 18,743 64,873 9,701 471,284

LOANS FROM  
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

CORPORATE  
BOND

FINANCE LEASE 
LIABILITIES

COMMERCIAL 
PAPERS

TOTAL

EUR thousand

Balance as at 1 January 2017 108,896 99,953 21,008 19,488 0 249,346

CHANGES FROM FINANCING CASH FLOWS

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 55,000 110,000 0 60,416 0 225,416

Repayment of borrowings -3,636 -100,000 0 0 0 -103,636

Payment of financial lease liabilities 0 0 -2,676 0 0 -2,676

TOTAL 51,364 10,000 -2,676 60,416 0 119,104

OTHER CHANGES

New financial lease 3,530

Interest expense -80 -1,014 0 0 0 -1,094

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 160,180 108,939 21,862 79,904 0 370,886
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TERMS AND REPAYMENT SCHEDULE

The terms and conditions of outstanding loans are as follows.

YEAR OF 
MATURITY

CARRYING AMOUNT

EUR thousand 31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

Unsecured bond issues 2022–2023 198,212 108,939

Unsecured bank loans 2019–2022 179,754 160,180

Unsecured other loans 2019–2023 9,701 4,954

Commercial paper issues 2019 64,873 79,905

Financial lease liabilities 2017– 18,743 21,863

TOTAL INTEREST-BEARING 
LIABILITIES

471,284 375,841

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows.

2018 2017

EUR thousand

FUTURE 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

INTEREST

PRESENT 
VALUE OF 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

FUTURE 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

INTEREST

PRESENT 
VALUE OF 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

Less than 1 year 5,020 681 4,339 5,249 549 4,700

Between 1 and 5 
years

13,786 2,355 11,431 15,190 1,054 14,136

More than 5 years 4,999 2,026 2,973 5,134 2,153 2,981

TOTAL 23,806 5,063 18,743 25,574 3,757 21,817

Certain leases provide for additional payments that are contingent on changes in market rents.

24. Trade and other payables

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand

Trade payables 125,159 128,770

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Electricity 307 242

Foreign exchange 940 1,047

Interest rate swaps 2,848 3,775

Accrual and other expenses 80,464 75,589

Liabilities to related parties 21,577 21,500

TOTAL 231,296 230,923

Non-current 1,516 1,717

Current 229,780 229,206

TOTAL 231,296 230,923

Information about the Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk is included in Note 26.
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25. Provisions 

WARRANTIES AND GUARANTEES SITE RESTORATION RESTRUCTURING OTHER PROVISIONS TOTAL

EUR thousand

Balance at 1 January 2017 1,441 3,786 3,584 5,235 14,046

Provisions recognised -129 63 2,989 545 3,468

Provisions utilised -16 0 -2,055 -973 -3,044

Unwind of discount 0 73 0 0 73

Exchange differences on opening -13 -49 -26 -15 -102

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 1,283 3,873 4,492 4,793 14,441

Non-current 1,283 3,873 4,492 4,793 14,441

Current 0 0 0 0 0

Balance at 1 January 2018 1,283 3,873 4,492 4,793 14,441

Provisions recognised -40 772 11 803 1,545

Provisions utilised -16 0 -1,417 -813 -2,246

Unwind of discount 0 40 0 0 40

Exchange differences on opening -6 -72 -115 -26 -219

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 1,221 4,613 2,971 4,757 13,562

Non-current 1,221 4,613 2,971 4,757 13,562

Current 0 0 0 0 0

SITE RESTORATION

The provision for site restoration primarily relates to the quarries.

OTHER

Other provisions consist mainly of legal and agent leaving indemnity provisions.
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26. Financial instruments
ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATIONS AND FAIR VALUES

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial 

liabilities, including their levels in the fair-value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information 

for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a 

reasonable approximation of fair value. 

Items where the carrying amount equates to the fair value are categorised to three levels:

• Level 1. Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2. Fair value determined by observable parameters

• Level 3. Fair value determined by non-observable parameters

31 December 2018

CARRYING AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

EUR thousand
FAIR VALUE 
– HEDGING 

INSTRUMENTS

FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT 

AND LOSS

FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME

FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AT 

AMORTISED COST

OTHER 
FINANCIAL 

LIABILITIES
TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 529 3,038 0 0 0 3,567 0 3,567 0 3,567

Electricity hedges 4,545 1,539 0 0 0 6,084 6,084 0 0 6,084

Investment portfolio 0 51,137 0 0 0 51,137 7,317 0 43,820 51,137

Equity investments through other 
comprehensive income

0 0 213,889 213,889 213,889 0 0 213,889

FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Trade and other receivables  
(excl. derivative instruments)

0 0 0 170,238 0 170,238 0 0 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 56,082 0 56,082 0 0 0 0

Other investments 0 0 0 1,726 0 1,726 0 0 0 0

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 559 380 0 0 0 940 0 940 0 940

Electricity hedges 84 223 0 0 0 307 307 0 0 307

Interest rate swaps 2,848 0 0 0 0 2,848 0 2,848 0 2,848

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Corporate bond 0 0 0 0 198,212 198,212 0 0 0 0

Loans from financial institutions 0 0 0 0 179,754 179,754 0 0 0 0

Commercial paper 0 0 0 0 64,873 64,873 0 0 0 0

Other loans 0 0 0 0 9,701 9,701 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities 0 0 0 0 18,743 18,743 0 0 0 0

Trade and other payables  
(excl. derivative instruments)

0 0 0 0 227,200 227,200 0 0 0 0
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31 December 2017

CARRYING AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

EUR thousand
HELD-FOR-

TRADING

FAIR VALUE 
– HEDGING 

INSTRUMENTS

HELD-TO-
MATURITY

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES

AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE

OTHER 
FINANCIAL 

LIABILITIES
TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 3,215 0 0 0 0 0 3,215 0 3,215 0 3,215

Electricity hedges 332 992 0 0 0 0 1,324 1,324 0 0 1,324

Investment portfolio, including derivatives 
(Details in Note 28)

54,264 0 0 6,450 0 0 60,714 73,404 1,615 17,930 92,949

Other investments 0 0 2,657 3,000 150,034 0 155,691 150,034 0 5,657 155,691

FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

 Trade and other receivables  
(excl. derivative instruments)

0 0 0 172,723 0 0 172,723 0 0 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 39,468 0 0 39,468 0 0 0 0

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 1,047 0 0 0 0 0 1,047 0 1,047 0 1,047

Electricity hedges 212 30 0 0 0 0 242 242 0 0 242

Interest rate swaps 0 3,775 0 0 0 0 3,775 0 3,775 0 3,775

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Corporate bond 0 0 0 0 0 108,939 108,939 0 0 0 0

Loans from financial institutions 0 0 0 0 0 160,180 160,180 0 0 0 0

Commercial paper 0 0 0 0 0 79,905 79,905 0 0 0 0

Other loan 0 0 0 0 0 4,954 4,954 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 21,863 21,863 0 0 0 0

Trade and other payables  
(excl. derivative instruments)

0 0 0 0 0 128,770 128,770 0 0 0 0

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk;

• Market risk.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 

risk management framework. The Board of Directors has established a Risk Management Policy 

for the Group. This contains the Treasury Policy and Credit Risk Policy. Nordkalk Group has a 

separate Electricity Risk Management Policy. 
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The Group’s centralised Group Treasury function is responsible for managing financial risks 

in the Group. It identifies, assesses and covers the financial risks. The Treasury function also 

provides the Group companies with advisory services. The Group’s risk management policy is 

essentially risk-averse. The aim is to safeguard the EUR value of the cash flow from operations. 

In order to achieve this the Group identifies and analyses the risks faced by the Group, sets ap-

propriate risk limits and controls and monitors risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 

policies and systems are regularly reviewed to reflect changes in market conditions and the 

Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, 

aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees un-

derstand their roles and obligations.

The Board of Directors oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 

management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 

framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Board of Directors is assisted in its 

oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk 

management controls and procedures. The Board of Directors receives reports on the findings.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Group’s income. The objective 

of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimising the return.

To mitigate this risk, the Group has diversified its portfolio of investments. Investing in both 

financial and industrial companies spreads the risk. As a means of further diversifying and adding 

liquidity to the investment portfolio, the Group has an internal investment company, Anchor Ltd. 

This all-equity company invests part of the Group’s cash flow across a variety of asset classes 

and markets in order to diversify the Group’s risk profile.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s re-

ceivables due from customers and investments in debt securities.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk stems mainly from the individual characteristics of each 

customer. However, management also considers the factors that could influence the credit risk of 

its customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate. 

The Group has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed indi-

vidually for creditworthiness, before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and 

conditions are offered to the customer. The Group’s review includes external ratings, when 

available, and in some cases bank references. 

Most of the Group’s customers have been trading with the Group for years, and no major credit 

losses have occurred with these customers. Credit risk is monitored by grouping customers 

according to their credit characteristics, including whether they are individuals or legal entities 

and whether they are wholesale, retail or end-user customers, as well as by geographic location, 

industry and the existence of previous financial difficulties.

Impairment
At the reporting date, the ageing of trade receivables that were not impaired was as follows. The 

recognised impairment loss in 2018 is calculated using the expected credit loss model in IFRS 9, 

2017 figures are restated. The expected credit loss is based on historical and forward-looking 

information and is estimated at the end of each reporting period. The Group applies the simplified 

approach to assess the expected credit loss for trade receivables.

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand
GROSS 

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

LOSS 
ALLOWANCE

GROSS 
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

LOSS 
ALLOWANCE

Not overdue 108,813 112,383

Overdue 1–30 days 14,928 -121 14,433 -104

Overdue 31–60 days 2,043 -232 2,012 -232

Overdue 61–90 days 1,098 -467 1,065 -420

More than 90 days 4,717 -3,370 6,412 -4,489

TOTAL 131,598 -4,190 136,305 -5,245

Cash and cash equivalents
The Group held cash and cash equivalents of EUR 56,082 thousand at 31 December 2018  

(31 December 2017: EUR 39,468 thousand). 

Derivatives
Group Treasury hedges related party (Group companies) currency risks by acting as counterpar-

ty in currency forward deals. External currency hedging is solely performed by Group Treasury. 
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In such deals, the counterparty is a bank or financial institution with a rating at least Baa3 from 

Moody’s rating agency. A comparable credit rating from a reputable credit rating agency is ac-

ceptable. Exceptions may be granted on an individual basis in rare cases where a bank is chosen 

for geographical reasons, but does not fulfil the stipulated rating criteria.

Hedge accounting
The Group applies hedge accounting to interest rate, electricity and for selected foreign curren-

cy derivatives. When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective 

portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of 

the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts related to hedged items separately by risk category and types of hedges are as follows.

CARRYING AMOUNT
ACCUMULATED AMOUNT OF FAIR VALUE HEDGE 

ADJUSTMENTS ON THE HEDGED ITEM INCLUDED 
IN THE CARRYING AMOUNT OF THE HEDGED ITEM

LINE ITEM IN THE 
STATEMENT OF 

FINANCIAL POSITION

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE USED 
FOR CALCULATING HEDGE 

INEFFECTIVENESS FOR 2018

CASH FLOW 
HEDGE RESERVE

EUR thousand ASSETS LIABILITIES ASSETS LIABILITIES

CASH FLOW HEDGES

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Forecasted sales and purchases N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -30

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

Electricity purchases N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 3,542

FAIR VALUE HEDGES

INTEREST RATE RISK

Floating rate loans 0 179,754 0 0 Loans and borrowings -39 -2,298
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Amounts related to items designated as hedging instruments, separately by risk category for 

each type of hedge, are as follows.

NOMINAL AMOUNT CARRYING AMOUNT
LINE ITEM IN THE STATEMENT  

OF FINANCIAL POSITION
CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE USED FOR CALCULATING 

HEDGE INEFFECTIVENESS FOR 2018

EUR thousand* ASSETS LIABILITIES

CASH FLOW HEDGES

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Currency forwards 55,596 529 559 Trade receivables/payables including derivatives 143

Currency options 4,388 34 67 Trade receivables/payables including derivatives -33

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

Electricity forwards 318,276 MWh 6,084 307 Trade receivables/payables including derivatives 3,501

FAIR VALUE HEDGES

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate swaps 98,333 0 2,848 Trade receivables/payables including derivatives 866

* Figures are in EUR thousand unless specified otherwise

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations asso-

ciated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have suf-

ficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when these are due, under both normal and stressed condi-

tions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group monitors the level of expected cash inflows for trade and other receivables togeth-

er with expected cash outflows for trade and other payables. 

In addition, the Group maintains the following lines of credit:

• EUR 200 million Commercial Paper Programme backed up by two syndicated committed re-
volving credit facilities totalling EUR 210 million

• Seven bilateral long-term credit facilities totalling EUR 160 million

• A bond of EUR 198 million
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Exposure to liquidity risk
The following are the residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. 

The amounts are gross and undiscounted, and include estimated interest payments, but exclude 

the impact of netting agreements.

31 December 2018

CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS

EUR thousand
CARRYING 

AMOUNT
TOTAL

1–12 
MONTHS

1–2 
YEARS

2–5 
YEARS

MORE 
THAN 5 
YEARS

NON-DERIVATIVE 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Corporate bond 198,212 219,440 4,413 4,413 210,615 0

Loans from financial 
institutions

179,754 186,109 33,019 101,918 51,173 0

Commercial paper 64,873 65,000 65,000 0 0 0

Other loan 9,701 10,052 3,282 339 6,432 0

Financial lease liabilities 18,743 23,829 5,020 6,893 6,893 5,022

Trade payables 125,159 125,159 125,159 0 0 0

596,443 629,590 235,893 113,562 275,113 5,022

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

Forward exchange 
contracts used for 
hedging

940 940 940 0 0 0

Electricity hedges 307 307 307 0 0 0

Interest rate swaps 2,848 4,322 1,292 1,177 1,177 675

4,095 5,569 2,539 1,177 1,177 675

31 December 2017

CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS

EUR thousand
CARRYING 

AMOUNT
TOTAL

1–12 
MONTHS

1–2 
YEARS

2–5 
YEARS

MORE 
THAN 5 
YEARS

NON-DERIVATIVE 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Corporate bond 108,939 123,071 2,620 2,613 117,838 0

Loans from financial 
institutions

160,180 165,642 5,369 33,528 126,745 0

Commercial paper 79,905 80,000 80,000 0 0 0

Other loan 4,415 5,661 186 186 512 4,777

Financial lease liabilities 21,863 25,574 5,249 7,595 7,595 5,134

Trade payables 128,770 128,770 128,770

504,073 528,719 222,195 43,922 252,690 9,911

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

Forward exchange 
contracts used for 
hedging

1,047 1,047 1,047 0 0 0

Electricity hedges 242 242 242 0 0 0

Interest rate swaps 3,775 4,569 1,351 1,314 1,904 0

5,064 5,858 2,640 1,314 1,904 0

The outflows disclosed in the above table represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows 

relating to derivative financial liabilities held for risk management purposes and which are not 

usually closed out before contractual maturity. The disclosure shows the net cash flow amounts 

for derivatives that are net cash-settled and the gross cash inflow and outflow amounts for de-

rivatives that have simultaneous gross cash settlement.

The interest payments on variable interest rate loans in the table above reflect market forward 

interest rates at the reporting date and these amounts may change in line with changes in market 

interest rate. The future cash flows from derivative instruments may differ from the amount in 

the above table as interest rates and exchange rates change. With the exception of these financial 

liabilities, it is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur 

significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.
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Currency risk

All Group companies report their 15 month forward looking net currency exposure on a quarter-

ly basis to the Group Treasury. These exposures are covered by internal forwards. At Group level 

Treasury consolidates and externally covers the Group’s net exposure through currency forwards 

and occasionally through currency options. The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent 

that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which sales and purchases are denominated 

and the respective functional currencies of Group companies. The currencies in which exposures 

arise in Group companies are primarily the Russian rouble (RUB), the pound sterling (GBP), the 

Swedish krone (SEK), the Polish zloty (PLN) and the Norwegian krone (NOK). Additional exposures 

may arise from purchases of fuel in the US dollar (USD).

At any point in time, the Group hedges on average 60 to 80 per cent of its estimated foreign 

currency exposure in respect of forecast sales and purchases over the following 15 months. The 

Group also hedges at least 60 per cent of all trade receivables and trade payables denominated 

in a foreign currency. The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, with 

a maturity of up to 15 months from the reporting date. Such contracts are generally designated 

as cash flow hedges.

Borrowings are, with a few exceptions, denominated in the subsidiaries’ domestic currencies.  

Corresponding external financing is usually generated via cross currency swaps. External financing 

is thus raised in the same currency as internal financing is provided. That creates a natural hedge.

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the 

Group’s policy is to ensure that its net exposure remains at an acceptable level by buying or selling 

foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary to address short-term imbalances.

Exposure to currency risk
Currency risk sensitivity to a +/- 10 per cent change in the exchange rate is shown for the net 

currency position per currency. The summary of quantitative data relating to the Group’s exposure 

to currency risk as reported to the Group management is as follows.

2018

EUR thousand GBP PLN RUB SEK

Gross exposure -27,325 -36,998 -5,680 -76,198

Hedged 20,468 25,461 5,680 69,123

NET EXPOSURE -6,857 -11,537 0 -7,076

Sensitivity analysis (+/- 10%)

Income statement -686 -1,154 0 -708

2017

EUR thousand GBP PLN RUB SEK

Gross exposure -23,258 -43,918 -1,205 -72,290

Hedged 12,686 28,332 1,511 68,312

NET EXPOSURE -10,572 -15,586 306 -3,978

Sensitivity analysis (+/- 10%)

Income statement -1,057 -1,559 31 -398

The following material exchange rates have been applied.

2018 2017

EUR thousand

EUR/GBP 0.895 0.887

EUR/PLN 4.301 4.177

EUR/RUB 79.715 69.392

EUR/SEK 10.255 9.844

Interest rate risk

The Group adopts a policy of financing investments through long-term borrowing, generally with 

a five-year term at inception. 

Exposure to interest rate risk
The Group aims to ensure that at least half of its long-term financing is exposed to fixed rates. 

Interest rate swaps are used as hedge instruments. The interest rate profile of the Group’s inter-

est-bearing financial instruments as reported to the Group management is as follows.

CARRYING AMOUNT

EUR thousand 2018 2017

FIXED RATE INSTRUMENTS

Financial liabilities 266,065 188,784

TOTAL 266,065 188,784

VARIABLE RATE INSTRUMENTS

Financial liabilities 184,164 164,590

Effect of interest rate swaps -98,333 -60,379

TOTAL 85,831 104,211
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A reasonably probable change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would 

have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis 

assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant.

PROFIT OR LOSS

EUR thousand
100 BASIS POINTS 

INCREASE
100 BASIS POINTS 

DECREASE

31 DECEMBER 2018

Variable rate instruments -1,855 0

Interest rate swaps 604 -604

CASH FLOW SENSITIVITY (NET) -1,251 -604

31 DECEMBER 2017

Variable rate instruments -1,641 0

Interest rate swaps 617 -617

CASH FLOW SENSITIVITY (NET) -1,023 -617

27. Financial risk management  
of Anchor’s investment portfolio
The investment portfolio has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk;

• Market risk. 

Risk management framework

Anchor invests in both listed and private equity, fixed income instruments and real estate funds. 

The investments can be both long- and short-term investments.

In its operations Anchor is exposed to market risks arising from price fluctuations of its invest-

ments. Performance is greatly affected by economic developments and share price movements 

both in Finland and abroad. The main risk management tool is diversification.

Credit risk

Credit risks arise from changes in the result caused by counterparties failing to meet their com-

mitments. Anchor invests in bonds which include credit risks, and to minimize these, Anchor 

diversifies its bond holdings. On 31 December 2018 Anchor had EUR 10.4 million invested in bonds 

(EUR 20.4 million 2017).

Liquidity risk

Anchor invests in closed-end funds which are less liquid than capital markets. On 31 December 

2018 investments in closed end funds and other less liquid assets amounted to EUR 43.9 million 

(EUR 33.8 million 2017).

Market risk

The majority of bond holdings are fixed rate. Interest rate risk is, however, limited as the majority 

of Anchor’s fixed income instruments are high-yielding and therefore have low interest rate 

sensitivity.
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Currency risk exposure

At the reporting date, the carrying amount of the investment portfolio’s assets and liabilities held 

in individual currencies were as follows.

2018 2017

Currency
EUR  

THOUSAND
% OF  

NET ASSETS
EUR  

THOUSAND
% OF  

NET ASSETS

EUR 33,433 65% 36,863 61%

USD 17,329 34% 17,692 29%

SEK 374 1% 3,853 6%

GBP 0 0 475 1%

NOK 0 0 1,885 3%

Sensitivity analysis of currency risk 
Sensitivity analysis below demonstrates the effects of fluctuation in exchange rates. This analy-

sis assumes that all other variables, interest rates in particular remain constant.

2018 2017

Currency
5%  

WEAKENING 
AGAINST EURO

5% 
STRENGTHENING 

AGAINST EURO

5%  
WEAKENING 

AGAINST EURO

5% 
STRENGTHENING 

AGAINST EURO

USD -866 866 -866 866

SEK -19 19 -19 19

GBP 0 0 -24 24

NOK 0 0 -94 94

EFFECT IN 
THOUSANDS 
OF EURO

-885 885 -995 995

The following table sets out the concentration of the investment assets and liabilities, excl.  

derivatives as at the reporting date.

2018 2017

EUR thousand
% OF NET 

ASSETS
% OF NET 

ASSETS

EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Exchange-traded equity investments 2,662 8.56% 10,554 35.88%

Private equity funds 15,502 49.84% 8,264 28.09%

Open-ended mutual funds 7,940 25.53% 10,600 36.03%

Non-listed equity investments 5,000 16.08% 0 0%

TOTAL EQUITY INVESTMENTS 31,104 60.83% 29,417 48.41%

DEBT SECURITIES

Exchange-traded debt securities 1,514 14.54% 5,574 27.36%

Non-traded debt securities 0 0% 200 0.98%

Open-ended fixed income funds 2,721 26.15% 8,945 43.91%

Closed-ended fixed income funds 6,173 59.31% 5,653 27.75%

TOTAL DEBT SECURITIES 10,408 20.35% 20,372 33.52%

REAL ESTATE FUNDS

Closed-ended investment funds 5,104 100.00% 4,535 100.00%

TOTAL REAL ESTATE FUNDS 5,104 9.98% 4,535 7.46%

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loan 0 0% 1,615 25.06%

Profit participation loan 4,521 100.00% 4,828 74.94%

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 4,521 8.84% 6,443 10.60%

TOTAL INVESTMENT ASSETS 51,137 100% 60,767 100%

Securities sold short 0 0% 61 0.10%

TOTAL INVESTMENT LIABILITIES 0 0% 61 0.10%
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Sensitivity analysis of market prices
Sensitivity analysis below demonstrates the effects of fluctuation in equity market prices. This 

analysis assumes that all other variables, currency rates in particular remain constant.

2018 2017

EUR thousand
10% CHANGE 
DOWNWARDS

10% CHANGE  
UPWARDS

10% CHANGE 
DOWNWARDS

10% CHANGE  
UPWARDS

Equity investments -3,110 3,110 -2,726 2,726

Debt securities -1,041 1,041 -2,253 2,253

Real estate funds -510 510 -453 453

EFFECT IN THOUSANDS 
OF EURO

-4,662 4,662 -5,432 5,432

The majority of the above sensitivity for equity investments would impact through profit and loss. 

Majority of the equity investments are closed-ended funds in nature with non-listed underlying 

assets, hence short-term market fluctuations do not have immediate effect on the portfolio. 

Figures before tax.

RETTIG GROUP    55    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018



28. List of subsidiaries

COUNTRY
GROUP SHAREHOLDING 
AND VOTING RIGHTS, %

SUBSIDIARIES OWNED BY PARENT COMPANY

Nordkalk Corporation Finland 100

Rettig ICC Ltd Finland 100

Rettig Group AB Sweden 100

Anchor Ltd Finland 100

Lyra Holding Ltd Finland 100

Radioso Ltd Finland 100

COUNTRY
GROUP SHAREHOLDING 
AND VOTING RIGHTS, %

OTHER GROUP COMPANIES  
OWNED BY SUBSIDIARIES

Rettig ICC b.v. The Netherlands 100

Rettig (China) Co. Ltd China 100

Rettig Heating Equipment (Jiangsu) Co. Ltd China 100

Rettig Metal Ticaret ve Sanayi A.S. Turkey 100

Rettig Heating Group France SAS France 100

Rettig (UK) Ltd UK 100

Rettig Ireland Limited Ireland 100

Rettig Inc. USA. USA 100

Rettig Sweden AB Sweden 100

Rettig Austria GmbH Austria 100

Rettig Srl. Romania 100

Rettig Group Ceska s.r.o. Czech Republic 100

Emmeti S.p.A. (group) Italy 100

Finimétal SASU France 100

Rettig Belgium N.V. Belgium 100

Rettig Germany GmbH Germany 100

Hewing GmbH Germany 100

Rettig Värme Ab (group) Finland 100

Sigarth AB (group) Sweden 100

Rettig Heating Sp.z o.o. Poland 100

Rettig Hungary Kft Hungary 100

CAN Sp.z o.o. Poland 100

Rettig Hrvatska d.o.o. Croatia 100

Rettig Slovenija d.o.o. Slovenia 100

Rettig Ic ve Dis Ticaret Limited Sirketi Turkey 100

Nordkalk AB Sweden 100

Nordkalk AS Estonia 100

Nordkalk GmbH Germany 100

NK-East Oy (group) Finland 100

Nordkalk Sp.z o.o. Poland 100

NKD Holding Oy (group) Finland 51

Suomen Karbonaatti Oy Finland 51

NorFraKalk AS Norway 50

Verdalskalk AS Norway 10
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29. Non-controlling interest

The Group’s subsidiaries Suomen Karbonaatti Oy and NKD Holding Oy have material non- controlling 

interest. Nordkalk has control in Suomen Karbonaatti Oy and NKD Holding Oy through a 51 per 

cent direct ownership in both companies. 

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

EUR thousand
SUOMEN 

KARBONAATTI
NKD HOLDING OY

OTHER 
INDIVIDUALLY 

IMMATERIAL
TOTAL

SUOMEN 
KARBONAATTI

NKD HOLDING OY
OTHER 

INDIVIDUALLY 
IMMATERIAL

TOTAL

Non-current assets 6,391 7,750 2,605 16,746 7,510 7,765 3,034 18,309

Current assets 18,198 2,375 5,424 25,997 17,443 1,902 4,838 24,183

Non-current liabilities 9,000 4,075 0 13,075 9,000 1,738 0 10,738

Current liabilities 4,995 795 1,672 7,462 5,546 419 1,227 7,193

Net assets 10,594 5,255 6,357 22,206 10,407 7,510 6,645 24,562

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

5,191 2,575 2,007 9,773 5,099 3,680 2,102 10,882

Net assets attributable to the Group 5,403 2,680 4,350 12,433 5,308 3,830 4,542 13,680

Turnover 49,944 3,244 6,259 59,447 49,281 842 9,170 59,292

Profit for the period 6,187 -390 123 5,920 5,943 -437 722 6,228

6,187 -390 123 5,920 5,943 -437 722 6,228

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

Owners of the company 3,155 -199 -69 2,888 3,031 -223 478 3,286

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 3,032 -191 192 3,032 2,912 -214 244 2,942

Cash flow from operations 6,429 -157 1,790 8,062 9,035 82 -5,960 3,157

Cash flow from investments -894 0 -479 -1,373 -1,222 -402 -5,446 -7,070

Cash flow from financing -6,185 158 -348 -6,375 -6,372 512 8,611 2,751

Suomen Karbonaatti paid EUR 6,000 thousand in dividends in 2018 and EUR 6,500 thousand in 2017 to the owners.

The following table summarises the financial information of Suomen Karbonaatti Oy, NKD Holding 

Oy and an aggregate amount of all the other companies where the Group has material non- 

controlling interest. 
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30. Operating leases
 
LEASES AS LESSEE

The Group leases a number of machines and pieces of equipment under operating leases. The 

rents of operative leasing commitments are booked as expenses during the maturity period.

Future minimum lease payments

At 31 December, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were payable 

as follows.

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Less than 1 year 10,788 9,359

Between 1 and 5 years 23,751 22,432

More than 5 years 13,828 14,883

TOTAL 48,367 46,673

Amounts recognised in income statement

2018 2017

EUR thousand

Lease expense 12,080 8,775

Contingent rent expense 946 620

TOTAL 13,026 9,395

31. Commitments and  
contingent assets and liabilities
 
GUARANTEES

Rettig Group has guaranteed obligations of Group companies, associate companies and joint 

venture, arising from ordinary course of business. These guarantees amounted to EUR 10,052 

thousand in 2018 and EUR 10,162 thousand in 2017.

2018 2017

EUR thousand

LOANS AND CREDIT FACILITIES AGAINST WHICH  
COLLATERAL AND MORTGAGES HAVE BEEN PLEDGED:

GUARANTEES ISSUED BY GROUP COMPANIES 30,128 30,276

UNCALLED INVESTMENT COMMITMENTS 45,861 37,200

DISPUTES AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Rettig Group is involved in some minor legal actions, claims and proceedings. The final outcome 

of these matters cannot be predicted. Taking into account all available information to date the 

outcome is not expected to have material impact on the financial position of the Group.
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32. Related parties

Rettig Group’s related parties include subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures as 

well as the members of the Board, the President and CEO and members of the Group management. 

Subsidiaries are presented in Note 28. In addition, the immediate parent company Rettig Capital 

Ltd and its subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures are related parties. All trans-

actions and outstanding balances with these related parties are priced on an arm’s length basis.

PARENT AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

Rettig Capital Ltd (the “Parent”) is the parent company of the Rettig Group.

TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation comprised the following:

2018 2017

EUR thousand

President and CEO 926 709

Board of Directors 556 480

Other key management team 1,273 1,013

TOTAL 2,756 2,202

OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

TRANSACTION  
VALUES

BALANCE  
OUTSTANDING 

EUR thousand 2018 2017 2018 2017

SALE OF GOODS AND SERVICES

Parent of the Group (Rettig Capital Ltd) 199 210 0 0

Joint venture 237 245 70 72

PURCHASE OF GOODS AND SERVICES 
(INCLUDING FINANCING)

Parent of the Group (Rettig Capital Ltd) 812 1 121 117 539

Joint venture 2,317 3,747 0 1,417

OTHER

Parent of the Group (Rettig Capital Ltd)

Loan receivable and related interest 66 146 857 3,000

Joint venture

Loan and related interest 43 44 804 813

33. Subsequent events
Nothing to report.
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IFRS 2018  IFRS 2017  IFRS 2016 FAS 2015 FAS 2014

EUR million

Turnover 983 988 944 851 933

outside Finland, % 83 81 82 81 80

EBITDA 103 111 123 119 131

EBIT 49 53 73 76 43

Profit from continuing operations 31 37 58 44 28

Balance sheet total 1,208 1,136 1,003 1,152 923

Free cash flow -41 -39 224 59 103

Capital employed 878 783 692 837 710

Return on capital employed, % 5.7 7.2 9.5 9.7 5.8

Net debt* 245 249 178 305 247

Net gearing, % 91 64 39 67 59

Equity ratio, % 36 41 45 40 45

Net debt / EBITDA* 2.4 2.3 1.4 2.6 1.9

Gross investments 148 177 64 85 31

Number of personnel, end of period 4,281 4,105 4,092 4,255 4,074

Free cash flow = EBITDA +/- change in net working capital - investments + divestments +/- adjustments

Return on capital employed, % =
EBIT 

× 100
Capital employed, annual average

Net gearing, % =
Interest-bearing liabilities - interest-bearing assets 

Total equity

Equity ratio, % =
Total equity

× 100
Balance sheet total - advances received

Net debt to EBITDA =
Interest-bearing liabilities - interest-bearing assets

EBITDA

Five-year review

Calculation of financial ratios

* ‘Net Debt’ and ‘Net Debt / EBITDA’ are since Q2/2017 reported including certain adjustments as defined in Rettig Group’s loan terms and conditions to the calculation of financial covenants, among 
others a partial inclusion in ‘Interest-bearing assets’ of ‘Equity investments through other comprehensive income’ (prior to adaption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 classified as ‘Financial investments available 
for sale’). Said adjustments to the calculation of financial covenants were amended in April 2018 and ‘Net debt’ and ‘Net debt / EBITDA’ are reported pursuant to the amended adjustments since Q2/2018. 
If reported pursuant to the amended adjustments, Rettig Group’s ‘Net debt’ and ‘Net debt / EBITDA’, respectively, as of 31 December 2017 would have amounted to EUR 187 million and 1.73.
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Parent company’s income statement
NOTES 2018 2017

EUR thousand

TURNOVER 1 9,781 9,456

Sales and marketing expenses -217 -220

Administrative expenses 2, 4 -8,399 -10,766

Other operating income 3 3 22

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES (EBIT) 1,168 -1,508

Financial income and expenses 5 386,950 34,002

PROFIT BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS 388,117 32,493

Group contribution 6 -6,105 5,060

382,012 37,553

Direct taxes 7 -585 293

NET RESULT 381,429 37,846
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Parent company’s balance sheet
NOTES 2018 2017

EUR thousand

Assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets 8 1,461 131

Tangible assets 8 1,894 348

Investments 9, 10 1,104,972 700,595

1,108,327 81% 701,074 81%

CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables 11 223,307 149,514

Deferred tax assets 12 774 1,080

Cash and cash equivalents 31,032 10,664

255,113 19% 161,259 19%

TOTAL ASSETS 1,363,440 100% 862,333 100%

NOTES 2018 2017

EUR thousand

Equity and liabilities

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 13

Share capital 3,011 3,011

Retained earnings 376,894 358,548

Fund of invested non-
restricted equity

6,590 5,500

Net result for the financial year 381,429 37,846

767,923 56% 404,905 47%

Depreciation reserve 144 0% 0 0%

PROVISIONS 14 776 0% 828 0%

LIABILITIES

Long-term loans 15 347,966 26% 265,483 31%

Short-term loans 15 246,631 18% 191,118 22%

TOTAL EQUITY  
AND LIABILITIES

1,363,440 100% 862,333 100%
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Parent company’s cash flow statement
2018 2017

EUR thousand

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES (EBIT) 1,127 -1,397

ADJUSTMENTS:

Depreciations 282 752

Capital gains/losses included in operating income 0 -22

Other non-cash income and expenses -52 -213

Interest expenses and other financial expenses paid -15,598 -12,911

Interest income received 12,857 13,715

Dividends received 15,582 33,977

Taxes paid -159 -3

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS EXCLUDING 
CHANGE IN WORKING CAPITAL

14,039 33,899

CHANGE IN WORKING CAPITAL

Change in current operating receivables 1,112 -1,094

Change in non-interest-bearing liabilities -355 -94

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS (A) 14,796 32,711

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Investments in intangible and tangible assets -3,231 -197

Acquired subsidiary and associated companies' shares -155 -141,407

Sale of subsidiary and associated companies' shares 0 1,890

Sale of intangible and tangible assets 0 68

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (B) -3,386 -139,646

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS AND INVESTING  
ACTIVITIES (A + B)

11,410 -106,935

2018 2017

EUR THOUSAND

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase in long-term loans 115,000 165,000

Increase in restricted equity 1,090 0

Repayments of long-term loans -5,455 -103,636

Repayments of long-term loans receivable -45,108 -19,687

Change in current receivables non-operating -61,122 13,018

Dividends paid -20,500 -19,500

Change in current liabilities 15,993 62,606

Other financial items 9,060 9,790

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (C) 8,958 107,590

Cash flow for the year (A + B + C) 20,368 655

Cash and cash equivalents on 1 January 10,664 10,009

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
ON 31 DECEMBER

31,032 10,664
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Parent company’s accounting policies

The year-end financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting legislation 

in Finland.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Tangible and intangible assets are recognised in the balance sheet based on the cost of procure-

ment and production overheads less accumulated depreciation or amortisation and impairments. 

The carrying amount of land can also be revalued upwards. The value of the assets in the balance 

sheet is continually reviewed. Assets are depreciated or amortised based on the following esti-

mated economic lifetimes. The depreciation/amortisation periods are as follows:

• Intellectual property rights  5–10 years

• Other capitalised expenses 5 years

• Machinery and equipment 5 years

• Other tangible assets 5 years

Investments that are intended to be held for more than one year are recognised as investments 

and valued at cost. The valuation of shares in subsidiaries is reviewed annually against forecast 

cash flows.

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank accounts, deposits for terms of less than 

three months and other assets of a similar nature to liquid funds.

PROVISIONS AND YEAR-END APPROPRIATIONS

Provisions relate to known future expenses and losses for which corresponding income is not 

certain or even probable. Provisions are recognised as liabilities in the balance sheet and as 

expenses in the income statement. Pension expenses and changes in the pension liability are 

essentially recognised in the income statement. Provisions for pensions also contain an estimate 

of probable future pension expenses.

TAXES

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are calculated on timing differences between tax-

written-down and accounting values, applying the tax rate at the year-end or the tax rate that has 

already been established for the following year. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in their 

entirety in the balance sheet while deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that is proba-

ble that they can be utilised.

ITEMS DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCY

Items denominated in foreign currency are recognised on an ongoing basis at the transaction rate. 

Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated using the European 

Central Bank’s rate at the balance sheet date. Receivables and liabilities hedged using forward 

contracts are valued using the forward rate. Realised and unrealised exchange rate differences 

on receivables and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative agreements that are entered into to hedge the Group against exchange rate risks are 

valued on a monthly basis. Unrealised exchange rate gains and losses that arise on valuation are 

recognised as finance income or finance costs at the same time as the exchange rate differences 

on the hedged items. Foreign currency cash flows are generally hedged for a period of up to 15 

months. Exchange rate gains and losses relating to operating activities are recognised as adjust-

ing items in sales and purchases. Exchange rate differences on financing are recognised as

finance income or finance costs.
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Notes to the parent company’s 
financial statements

1. Turnover
2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Royalty fee income 6,789 6,863

Management fee income 2,796 2,587

Other 195 6

TOTAL 9,781 9,456

TURNOVER BY MARKET AREA

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Finland 1,849 1,597

Other EU countries 7,522 7,422

Other market areas 410 437

TOTAL 9,781 9,456

2. Personnel expenses
2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Wages and salaries 3,159 3,055

Pension expenses 626 518

Other social expenses 616 344

4,401 3,917

Management salaries and fees 1,482 1,066

Other administration expenses 4,216 6,097

AVERAGE NUMBER OF PERSONNEL

2018 2017

In Finland 17 18

Abroad 0 0

TOTAL 17 18
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3. Other operating income

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Gain from sale of fixed assets 3 51

Audit costs included in administration expenses -85 -88

4. Depreciation by activity

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Administration 282 752

DEPRECIATION BY ASSET CATEGORY

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Intangible rights 37 621

Other capitalised expenditure 129 54

Machinery and equipment 116 76

TOTAL 282 752

5. Financial income and expenses

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

DIVIDEND INCOME 

Group companies 15,582 33,977

INTEREST INCOME  

Group companies 12,361 13,627

Other 14,089 1,709

TOTAL 26,450 15,336

INTEREST EXPENSES 

Group companies -1,307 -1,247

Other -7,090 -5,258

TOTAL -8,397 -6,505

OTHER FINANCE INCOME

Group companies 367,315 7,802

Other 12,915 14,130

TOTAL 380,230 21,932

OTHER FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Group companies -9,153 -10,738

Other -17,762 -20,030

TOTAL -26,915 -30,768

Amount of exchange rate differences  
included in other financial items 

-1,010 -1,700

TOTAL FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 386,950 33,972
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2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Group contribution received -6,105 5,060

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Taxes on the result for the financial year -585 293

6. Group contribution

7. Direct taxes
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8. Intangible and tangible assets

2018

ACQUISITION 
COST, 1.1. 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS
ACQUISITION 

COST, 31.12. 
ACCUMULATED 

DEPR. 1.1.
DEPRECIATION 

FOR YEAR
ACCUMULATED 

DEPR. 31.12
NET BOOK 

VALUE, 31.12.

EUR thousand  

Intangible rights 18,619 1,497 0 20,116 18,565 112 18,677 1,439

Other capitalised expenditure 517 0 0 517 440 54 494 23

Buildings and constructions 475 0 0 475 475 0 475 0

Machinery and equipment 1,252 1,735 -73 2,914 982 116 1,098 1,816

Other tangible assets 78 0 0 78 0 0 0 78

Construction in progress 17 0 0 17 17 0 17 0

Advance payments, tangibles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 2018 20,958 3,231 -73 24,117 20,480 282 20,762 3,355

2017

ACQUISITION 
COST, 1.1. 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS
ACQUISITION 

COST, 31.12. 
ACCUMULATED 

DEPR. 1.1.
DEPRECIATION 

FOR YEAR
ACCUMULATED 

DEPR. 31.12
NET BOOK 

VALUE, 31.12.

EUR thousand  

Intangible rights 18,598 21 0 18,619 17,944 621 18,565 54

Other capitalised expenditure 517 0 0 517 386 54 440 77

Buildings and constructions 475 0 0 475 475 0 475 0

Machinery and equipment 1,122 176 -46 1,252 905 77 982 270

Other tangible assets 78 0 0 78 0 0 0 78

Construction in progress 17 0 0 17 17 0 17 0

Advance payments, tangibles 0 0 0 0 17 0 0 0

TOTAL 2017 20,807 197 -46 20,958 19,727 753 20,480 479
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9. Investments

 2018 2017

EUR thousand 

Shares in Group companies at 1 January 568,394 420,975

Increases 582,543 149,309

Decreases -131,010 -1,890

SHARES IN GROUP COMPANIES AT 31 DECEMBER 1,019,928 568,394

Receivables from Group companies 65,262 110,467

Shares in associated companies 17,316 17,171

Other shares and holdings 68 68

Other receivables 2,398 4,495

TOTAL 1,104,972 700,596

 
10. Shares and holdings in companies  
owned by Group and parent company

COUNTRY
GROUP SHAREHOLDING 
AND VOTING RIGHTS, %

SUBSIDIARIES OWNED BY PARENT COMPANY

Radioso Ltd Finland 100

Lyra Holding Ltd Finland 100

Nordkalk Corporation Finland 100

Rettig ICC Ltd Finland 100

Anchor Ltd Finland 100

Rettig Group AB Sweden 100

11. Receivables

 2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Trade receivables 8 105

Other receivables 1,201 74

Prepayments and accrued income 13,694 381

GROUP COMPANIES

Loan receivables 197,180 141,716

Trade receivables 684 1,694

Other receivables 9,163 5,060

Prepayments and accrued income 376 483

TOTAL 222,307 149,514

 
MATERIAL ITEMS INCLUDED IN PREPAID  
EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME 

 2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Accrued interests 13,422 362

Other 272 19

TOTAL 13,694 381

 
12. Deferred taxes

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

DEFERRED TAX RECEIVABLE

Tax losses 774 1,080
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13. Shareholders’ equity

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

RESTRICTED EQUITY

Share capital as of 1 January 3,011 3,011

Share capital as of 31 December 3,011 3,011

Retained earnings as of 1 January 396,394 379,048

Dividends -19,500 -20,500

Retained earnings 31 December 376,894 358,548

Fund of invested non-restricted equity 6,590 5,500

Profit for the financial year 381,429 37,846

TOTAL 767,923 404,905

DISTRIBUTABLE FUNDS:

Retained earnings 376,894 358,548

Fund of invested non-restricted equity 6,590 5,500

Profit/loss for the financial year 381,429 37,846

TOTAL DISTRIBUTABLE FUNDS 764,912 401,894

14. Provisions

 2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Provision for pensions as of 1 January 828 1,011

Increase (+) / Decrease (-) -52 -183

PROVISION FOR PENSIONS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 776 828

Changes in the year have been recorded under other financial items and in equity in accordance 

with practice prescribed by local legislation.
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MATERIAL ITEMS INCLUDED IN  
ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Salary accruals 853 989

Accrued interests 3,909 2,317

Other 186 344

TOTAL 4,948 3,650

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

LOANS AND CREDIT FACILITIES AGAINST WHICH  
COLLATERAL AND MORTGAGES HAVE BEEN PLEDGED: 

Guarantees issued on behalf of Group companies 15,385 10,162

LEASING AND RENTAL COMMITMENTS:

Portion falling due during the next financial year 249 786

Portion for subsequent years 0 8,767

TOTAL 249 9,553

DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS:

Currency derivative contracts, underlying value 344,080 340,512

Interest rate derivative contracts, underlying value 98,333 60,379

15. Long-term liabilities

2018 2017

EUR thousand  

Loans from credit institutions 149,754 156,544

Corporate bonds 198,212 108,939

347,966 265,483

LIABILITIES FALLING DUE AFTER FIVE YEARS

Loans from credit institutions 0 0

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current portion of long-term liabilities 30,000 3,636

Trade payables 83 155

Other short-term liabilities 64,945 79,844

Accruals and deferred income 4,948 3,650

GROUP COMPANIES:

Trade payables 12 0

Loan payables 23,325 6,140

Other short-term liabilities* 123,317 97,691

246,631 191,118

TOTAL 594,597 456,601

* Rettig Capital Ltd
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Auditor’s report
To the Annual General Meeting 
of Rettig Group Ltd 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF  
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of 

Rettig Group Ltd (business identity code 

1970888-5) for the year ended 31 December 

2018. The financial statements comprise the 

consolidated balance sheet, income statement, 

statement of comprehensive income, statement 

of changes in equity, statement of cash flows 

and notes, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies, as well as the parent com-

pany’s balance sheet, income statement, state-

ment of cash flows and notes.
In our opinion

• the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the group’s financial 
position, financial performance and cash 
flows in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU

• the financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the parent company’s financial 
performance and financial position in 
accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of financial 
statements in Finland and comply with 
statutory requirements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 

good auditing practice in Finland. Our respon-

sibilities under good auditing practice are 

further described in the Auditor’s Responsibil-

ities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

section of our report.
We are independent of the parent company 

and of the group companies in accordance with 

the ethical requirements that are applicable in 

Finland and are relevant to our audit, and we 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 

in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors and the President and CEO 
for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the President and 

CEO are responsible for the preparation of con-

solidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 

adopted by the EU, and of financial statements 

that give a true and fair view in accordance with 

the laws and regulations governing the prepa-

ration of financial statements in Finland and 

comply with statutory requirements. The Board 

of Directors and the President and CEO are also 

responsible for such internal control as they 

determine is necessary to enable the prepara-

tion of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the 

Board of Directors and the President and CEO 

are responsible for assessing the parent com-

pany’s and the group’s ability to continue as 
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going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 

relating to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting. The financial 

statements are prepared using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless there is an 

intention to liquidate the parent company or the 

group or cease operations, or there is no real-

istic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assur-

ance on whether the financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Rea-

sonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with good auditing practice will 

always detect a material misstatement when 

it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individ-

ually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of the financial 

statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with good 

auditing practice, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the parent 
company’s or the group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by 
management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the 
Board of Directors’ and the President 
and CEO’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the parent company’s or the group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may 
cause the parent company or the group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and 
events so that the financial statements 
give a true and fair view.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express 
an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance 
of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with gov-

ernance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and sig-

nificant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit.

OTHER REPORTING 
REQUIREMENTS

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the President and 

CEO are responsible for the other information. 

The other information that we have obtained 

prior to the date of this auditor’s report is the 

report of the Board of Directors.
Our opinion on the financial statements does 

not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial 

statements, our responsibility is to read the 

other information and, in doing so, consider 

whether the other information is materially in-

consistent with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. With respect 

to the report of the Board of Directors, our re-

sponsibility also includes considering whether 

the report of the Board of Directors has been 

prepared in accordance with the applicable laws 

and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report 

of the Board of Directors is consistent with the 

information in the financial statements and the 

report of the Board of Directors has been pre-

pared in accordance with the applicable laws 

and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed on 

the other information that we obtained prior to 

the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude 

that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that 

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Helsinki, 15 February 2019

Kim Järvi

Authorised Public Accountant, KHT

KPMG Oy Ab

Henry Maarala

Authorised Public Accountant, KHT
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Governance and risk management
Rettig Group Ltd (“Rettig Group”) pursues its 

business objectives in compliance with the 

Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act and the 

Rettig Management Policies and Procedures 

Main Manual. 

Rettig Group is a Finnish company wholly 

owned by Rettig Capital Ltd, which is owned 

by members of the families of Cyril and Tom 

von Rettig. Rettig Group looks after the shared 

financial interests of its owners and its interests 

in wholly owned subsidiaries, associated com-

panies and other investments. 

KEY GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES 

Rettig Group owns Portfolio Companies 

(“PCs”) that are wholly owned companies, i.e. 

subsidiaries, of Rettig Group and managed 

in a decentralised way. Subsidiary PC CEOs 

are members of an extended Rettig Group 

Management team, which meets regularly to 

address issues that are common and require 

relevant coordination across Rettig Group. A 

strong functional connection is maintained 

between Rettig Group and subsidiary PCs in 

areas such as finance and treasury, legal or 

communication. 

PCs held by Rettig Group that are not 

subsidiaries are influenced through the Annual 

General Meeting of the company and through 

regular dialogue with its Board of Directors. 

As a governance principle and when relevant, 

Rettig Group aims to hold a seat on the Boards 

of Directors of the companies it owns. 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Rettig Group is directed and controlled by  

Rettig Group’s Board of Directors  (RG Board) 

and Rettig Group’s President and CEO (RG CEO). 

The RG Board is supported by its Audit Com-

mittee (RG AC). 

Each subsidiary PC of Rettig Group is 

directed and controlled by its own Board of Di-

rectors (PC Board) and CEO (PC CEO). The PC 

Boards are managed under the direction of the 

Rettig Group President and CEO and within the 

framework of Rettig Management Policies and 

Procedures including risk-management policy. 

The RG CEO is supported by his or her 

Management Team (RG MT) and each PC CEO 

by his or her Management Team (PC MT). 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

One of Rettig Group’s key strategic objectives is 

to diversify risk. The objective is to spread the 

owners’ risk by holding a portfolio of different 

companies that in combination make the Group 

less vulnerable to micro- and macroeconomic 

changes that could have a negative impact on 

the operations of the Group. 

Risk management is also critical on an op-

erational level. Rettig Group strives to empower 

assessment of strategic, operational, financial 

or hazard risks. The severity and probability of 

strategic and operational risks in particular are 

evaluated on a regular basis. 

For Rettig Group a key strategic risk is one 

that significantly prevents the Group from 

operating towards its mission to create “Value 

for generations”. 

For subsidiary PCs, strategic risks are 

mainly related to external factors that could 

impact markets, customers and competitive-

ness. A strategic risk typically has the potential 

to have a long-term impact on the business. 

Operational risks are part of the day-to-day 

work and are identified, assessed and managed 

on a daily basis. 

The main financial risks are foreign-exchange 

risk, interest-rate risk, liquidity and refinancing 

risk and credit risk. They are managed through 

hedging instruments, a diversified funding port-

folio and management of customer receivables. 

Hazard risks are mainly related to occupa-

tional health and safety, personnel security, 

information security, natural disasters, fire and 

other accidents. They are managed through 

occupational health and safety systems and 

instructions, crisis-management guidelines, in-

formation-security policy, environmental-man-

agement systems and appropriate insurance 

arrangements. 

CEO OF PORTFOLIO COMPANY 
AND MANAGEMENT TEAM

PRESIDENT AND CEO  
OF RETTIG GROUP  

WITH MANAGEMENT TEAM

PORTFOLIO COMPANY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RETTIG GROUP LTD.  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

and motivate its people and be prepared to 

respond to change. This includes managed risk 

taking. The purpose of the risk-management 

policy is to integrate risk assessment into busi-

ness decisions, particularly major ones. 

Risks can only be managed if they are 

identified and understood in advance. Risk 

assessment within Rettig Group includes 

RETTIG GROUP    74    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018



RISK 
SEVERITY

RISK 
PROBABILITY

RISK MANAGEMENT

STRATEGIC RISKS

GROUP

Business environment risk × × × × Continuous assessment and risk diversification.

Weak balance sheet × × × × Careful and prudent risk taking.

Reputational risk × × × Careful and prudent reputation management.

Rettig ICC

Market stagnation × × × × Growth in target markets.

Customer dependency × × × Wide customer base. Good customer contact.

Limited product portfolio × × × Innovative new solutions.

Nordkalk

Major change in customer base × × × × Close and value-adding customer contacts.

Raw material availability × × × × Proactive limestone reserves development.

Environmental legislation × ×  × Awareness and readiness to fulfill changing legal demands.

OPERATIONAL RISKS

Rettig ICC

Steel price fluctuations × × × × Alternative suppliers. Simplified operations.

Plant interruptions × × Flexible production platforms.

Nordkalk

Energy prices × × × Efficient sourcing and hedging. Alternative energy sources.

Low capacity utilisation × × × × Optimised utilisation of internal networks with corporate-wide sales and operations planning.

Anchor

Investment risk × × × × × Diversification, active capital allocation, risk and position limits and hedging.

Counterparty risk × × × Risk limits and diversification.

Key strategic and operational risks: Group and subsidiary PCs
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